
 
View or subscribe to updates for agendas, reports and minutes at 

mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk. 
All public papers are available from the calendar link to this meeting once published 

Agenda  

 

Scrutiny Committee 

Informal Remote Meeting  

This is an informal meeting of the members of the Scrutiny Committee to enable remote 

attendance. It is not being held as a committee meeting under the provisions of the 

Local Government Act 1972. 

This meeting will be held on: 

Date: Monday 7 March 2022 

Time: 6.00 pm  

Place: Zoom - Remote meeting 

 

For further information please contact:  

Alice Courtney, Committee and Member Services Officer 

 01865 529834  DemocraticServices@oxford.gov.uk 

 

Members of the public can attend to observe this meeting and.  

 may register in advance to speak to the committee in accordance with the 
committee’s rules 

 may record all or part of the meeting in accordance with the Council’s protocol 

Information about speaking and recording is set out in the agenda and on the website 

Please contact the Committee Services Officer to register to speak; to discuss 
recording the meeting; or with any other queries.  

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings


 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 
 

Committee Membership 

 

Councillor Elizabeth Wade (Chair)  

 
Councillor Nigel Chapman (Vice-
Chair) 

 

Councillor Tiago Corais  

Councillor Dr Hosnieh Djafari-Marbini  

Councillor Paula Dunne  

Councillor James Fry  

Councillor Linda Smith  

Councillor Dr Christopher Smowton  

Councillor Marie Tidball  

Councillor Imogen Thomas  

Councillor Naomi Waite  

Councillor Dick Wolff  

 

Apologies and notification of substitutes received before the publication are shown 
under Apologies for absence in the agenda. Those sent after publication will be 
reported at the meeting. Substitutes for the Chair and Vice-chair do not take on these 
roles. 



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 

Agenda 
 

  Pages 

1   Apologies for absence  

2   Declarations of interest  

3   Chair's Announcements  

4   Minutes 7 - 16 

 Minutes from 01 February 2022 

 

Recommendation: That the minutes of the meeting held on 01 
February 2022 be APPROVED as a true and accurate record. 

 

 

5   Work Plan 17 - 20 

 The Committee is recommended to confirm its agreement to the current 
priorities and the Work Plan (both attached). 

 

 

6   Annual Update of the Council Business Plan 21 - 102 

 The Cabinet will, at its meeting on 16 March 2022, consider a report on 
the Annual Update of the Council Business Plan. Councillor Susan 
Brown, Leader and Cabinet Member for Inclusive Growth, Economic 
Recovery and Partnerships and Caroline Green, Chief Executive have 
been invited to present the report and answer questions.  

The Committee is asked to consider the report and agree any 
recommendations it wishes to make to Cabinet. 

 

 

7   Oxfordshire Recovery and Renewal Framework 103 - 
128 

 The Cabinet will, at its meeting on 16 March 2022, consider a report on 
the Oxfordshire Recovery and Renewal Framework. Councillor Susan 
Brown, Leader and Cabinet Member for Inclusive Growth, Economic 
Recovery and Partnerships and Caroline Green, Chief Executive have 
been invited to present the report and answer questions.  

The Committee is asked to consider the report and agree any 

 



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

recommendations it wishes to make to Cabinet. 

 

8   Reports for Approval 129 - 
140 

 The Committee is asked to approve reports and recommendations on 
the following for submission to Cabinet:  

 Procurement Update 

 Oxfordshire Plan 2050 

 

 

9   Report back on recommendations and from Scrutiny 
Panel meetings 

141 - 
146 

 At its meeting on 09 February the Cabinet considered the following 
reports from Scrutiny and made responses to the recommendations: 

 Budget Review Group Report 

Since Scrutiny’s previous meeting, the following Panels have met: 

 Housing & Homelessness Panel (02 February) 

 Child Poverty Review Group (09 February, 17 February, 23 
February, 01 March)  

 

The Committee is asked to:  

 

1. Note Cabinet’s responses to its recommendations. 

2. Note the updates from Panel Chairs. 

 

 

10   Dates of future meetings  

 Scrutiny Committee  

 05 April (in-person)  

Standing Panels  

Companies: 24 March, 07 April (both Zoom)  

Housing & Homelessness: 04 April (Zoom)  

 

All meetings start at 6.00 pm. 

 



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

11   Matters exempt from publication and exclusion of the 
public 

 

 Although this is an informal meeting of the members of the Scrutiny 
Committee which is not being held as a committee meeting under the 
provisions of the Local Government Act 1972, if the Committee wishes 
to exclude the press and the public from the meeting during 
consideration of any aspects of the preceding or following agenda items 
it is recommended that the Committee resolves to pass a resolution in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 specifying the grounds on which their presence 
could involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as described in 
specific paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act if and so long, 
as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 

 

 

12   Budget Review Group Report - Exempt 
Recommendations and Responses 

147 - 
148 

 



 

 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

Information for those attending 

Recording and reporting on meetings held in public 

Members of public and press can record, or report in other ways, the parts of the meeting 
open to the public. You are not required to indicate in advance but it helps if you notify the 
Committee Services Officer prior to the meeting so that they can inform the Chair and 
direct you to the best place to record.  

The Council asks those recording the meeting: 

 To follow the protocol which can be found on the Council’s website  

 Not to disturb or disrupt the meeting 

 Not to edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation of the 
proceedings. This includes not editing an image or views expressed in a way that may 
ridicule or show a lack of respect towards those being recorded. 

 To avoid recording members of the public present, even inadvertently, unless they are 
addressing the meeting. 

Please be aware that you may be recorded during your speech and any follow-up. If you 
are attending please be aware that recording may take place and that you may be 
inadvertently included in these. 

The Chair of the meeting has absolute discretion to suspend or terminate any activities 
that in his or her opinion are disruptive. 

Councillors declaring interests  

General duty 

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities. These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the Council’s website. 

Declaring an interest 

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, 
you must declare that you have an interest. You should also disclose the nature as well as 
the existence of the interest. If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having 
declared it at the meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and 
must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed. 

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of 
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and 
that “you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”. The matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a 
whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were 
civil partners.  

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings


 

Minutes of a meeting of the  

Scrutiny Committee 

on Tuesday 1 February 2022  

 

Committee members present: 

Councillor Wade (Chair) Councillor Chapman (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Corais Councillor Diggins (substitute for Councillor Tidball) 

Councillor Djafari-Marbini Councillor Dunne 

Councillor Fry Councillor Linda Smith 

Councillor Smowton Councillor Thomas 

Councillor Waite Councillor Wolff 

Officers present for all or part of the meeting:  

Adrian Arnold, Head of Planning Services 
Rachel Williams, Planning Policy and Place Manager 
Tom Hudson, Scrutiny Officer 
Alice Courtney, Committee and Member Services Officer 

Also present: 

Councillor Alex Hollingsworth, Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Delivery 

Apologies: 

Councillor Tidball sent apologies. 

Substitutes are shown above. 

 

87. Public Participation  

The Chair highlighted that she had received emails from two organisations ahead of the 
meeting related to the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 item that would be considered later in the 
agenda – Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) Oxfordshire and Need Not 
Greed Oxfordshire. These emails had been circulated to the Committee for information 
prior to the start of the meeting. 

The Chair advised that she had approved requests for two individuals to speak on the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 item – Cllr Andrew Gant and Suzanne McIvor were both in 
attendance. The Committee agreed to hear the speakers first, followed by the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and then return to the agenda as listed. 

Suzanne McIvor, who was in attendance on behalf of Need Not Greed Oxfordshire 
raised the following concerns: 

7

Agenda Item 4



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 There was a lack of opportunity for proper scrutiny afforded to the Oxfordshire 
Plan 2050 process.  

 The officer summary in the report appeared to give a false impression of the 
consultation responses. 

 Many organisations across Oxfordshire had called for a review of the 
Oxfordshire Growth Needs Assessment, but this had not been mentioned in the 
summary of key findings.  

 The reference to support for a comprehensive review of the Oxfordshire Green 
Belt was a misleading representation of the consultation responses. 

 Need Not Greed Oxfordshire was so concerned with the summary of key points 
contained in the report that it had raised a formal complaint with the Future 
Oxfordshire Partnership. 

 The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 consultation process was long and technical, making 
it inaccessible to many people. This meant that local groups had to make 
representations on behalf of residents – but there was no reference in the report 
to the fact that local groups represented the views of thousands of people. Need 
Not Greed Oxfordshire therefore felt that the voices of Oxfordshire residents 
were not being heard and the views of promoters and developers were being 
given more weight than they should be. 

 It was not clear how, when and by whom key decisions related to the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 would be taken, such as the number of houses to be 
built. The organisation wanted councillors to be in charge of this decision and 
take residents’ views on board. 

The Scrutiny Officer clarified that the Committee was not being asked to just note the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 report, but that it was being asked to agree any 
recommendations for consideration by Cabinet. 

Cllr Andrew Gant advised that he was speaking on the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 item in 
his capacity as a City Councillor and supported the previous speaker’s call for proper 
scrutiny. He advised that the common text of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 was likely to go 
out as part of the statutory Regulation 19 consultation around the middle of 2022, after 
it had been the subject of a vote at each of the five Oxfordshire planning authorities. 

He said that a feature of the text would include a choice among the scenarios for 
growth set out in the Oxfordshire Growth Needs Assessment, which outlined the vision 
for growth and priorities for the county beyond that which was included in the current 
Local Plans. Cllr Gant highlighted the importance of councillors and the public having 
the opportunity to be fully involved in the development of the common text within the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 before it was voted on by the five planning authorities – and that 
the Committee had a crucial role to play in this.  

He added that he was pleased to hear the clarification that the Committee had full 
authority to make recommendations to Cabinet, but that the Committee had not been 
given much time to consider the report. He urged the Committee to assure itself that it 
had received full sight of the evidence base and consider requesting further 
consideration of the report at a future meeting to allow for proper scrutiny and 
recommendations if required. 

The Chair thanked both speakers for their contributions. 

Cllr Andrew Gant left the meeting and did not return.   

   

8



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

88. Oxfordshire Plan 2050  

The Chair reconfirmed that the Committee was able to make recommendations to 
Cabinet related to the report. 

Cllr Alex Hollingsworth, Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Delivery explained 
that it was not his report but confirmed he was happy to comment as required. He 
added that he had made his view clear that the timetable for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
needed to ensure opportunities for the Scrutiny Committees to have meaningful input 
before final drafts were put together. He suggested that the Committee should consider 
requesting sight of the Regulation 19 report before it was in the final stages of drafting. 

Cllr Hollingsworth highlighted that he could only express personal views, not those of 
Cabinet Members from the other four planning authorities. 

Rachel Williams, Planning Policy and Place Manager introduced the report. She 
highlighted that the process to deliver a development plan was lengthy, particularly on a 
large scale. She explained the process of developing the Oxfordshire Plan 2050: 

 Regulation 18 (Part 2) consultation document – outlined the range of policy 
options for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 that had been identified. This was 
presented to the Committee in July 2021 but there was limited opportunity to 
make changes to the document at that point. The Committee was assured that 
its recommendations had been included as part of the Council’s response to the 
consultation. 

 Refining policy options – this was the next formal stage of the process. A 
series of different tasks would be involved in this stage, including listening to 
views from the last round of consultation, building the evidence base and testing 
what was practical, feasible and deliverable. Draft policies from the policy 
options outlined would then be selected and included in the next stage 
document. 

 Regulation 19 consultation document – the report would include draft policies 
and would be presented to the Committee for consideration and 
recommendations before Cabinet approved it to go out for consultation. 

The Planning Policy and Place Manager confirmed that the Committee’s request for 
additional input into the process had been taken on board, which was partly why the 
report was being presented to the Committee. The report under consideration was a 
report of the last consultation so that the Committee could see its comments reflected 
back, hear what others said and look at what that meant for the policy options which 
were consulted on. The Planning Policy and Place Manager added that additional 
opportunities for the involvement of the Committee between the Regulation 18 and 
Regulation 19 stages would be explored so that the Committee could consider the draft 
policies ahead of Cabinet approval. 

It was clarified that all of the five planning authorities were required to approve content 
at each stage of the process and the final draft.  

The Committee raised a number of points, including: 

 Traction points – the Committee required clarity on where the traction points in 
the process that it could provide input and recommendations into were.  

 Sewage pollution and waste water – it was felt that the report was not very 
strong in this area and reassurance was requested around how Thames Water’s 
future investment plans aligned with plans for growth.  

9



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 Leisure, recreation and open space – it was felt that the alternative policy option 
floated in the report to protect parks, play areas and sports areas should be 
supported as they were important spaces. 

Cllr Tiago Corais joined the meeting. 

 Importance of efforts to reduce inequality and deprivation – this was floated as a 
policy option within the report, but it was requested that this was made a strong 
policy in its own right in the document. 

 Process – it was felt that the consultation report presented was not fit for 
purpose and the general public would not learn much from the report.  

The Planning Policy and Place Manager confirmed that the consultation report 
contained at Appendix 1 was a summary of all the representations. It was intended to 
be a factual summary and there was no reflection or analysis as that would happen 
during an additional stage. 

Adrian Arnold, Head of Planning Services provided assurance that all partners involved 
in the process were committed to building in time for the work of scrutiny. He added 
that the team would work with Thames Water in relation to future demand, but that the 
pollution side of things was the responsibility of Thames Water and the Environment 
Agency. The Committee was advised that the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 could bring in 
strategic policy that could be implemented in more detail at the Local Plan level. 

Cllr Hollingsworth explained that the timescale for the process was tight and that 
Oxfordshire was a trailblazer for this type of plan. He advised that one of the challenges 
was understanding how the Planning Inspectorate would form a judgement on the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 based on tests contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) paragraph 35, which sought to consider whether the evidence base 
justified the policies contained within the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. Cllr Hollingsworth 
expressed his view that the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 should contain only high level 
strategic policies and leave the detail to Local Plans, as there was a risk that there 
would not be the evidence base to back-up very detailed policies in the Oxfordshire 
Plan 2050. 

Cllr Hollingsworth said he thought it would be helpful to hear the Committee’s views on 
the housing numbers and suggested it might want to reflect on the discrepancies 
between the housing trajectories and the identified need for affordable housing which 
he was happy to provide numbers for later. 

The Committee raised further points related to: 

 Consultation responses – a breakdown was requested of the 3,723 individual 
responses received from 422 individuals and organisations. It was confirmed 
that the 3,723 related to the total number of comments made across the different 
themes and the 422 related to the number of individuals/organisations that had 
submitted either one or a number of comments. The Committee was referred to 
Chart 1 in Appendix 1 which gave a breakdown of respondent type. The 
Planning Policy and Place Manager agreed to extract the information in Chart 1 
into a table and circulate to the Committee after the meeting. 

 Text in Appendix 1 – the text frequently behaved as if the process was a 
referendum, which the Committee had been told was not the case. It was 
suggested that the language needed to be altered to reflect that. 

 Unknowns – a question was raised about how the public could comment on a 
consultation that had so many unknowns within it (e.g. Integrated Care System 

10



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

was not yet established) and how those unknown factors were managed in the 
process. It was explained that the best available information at the time was 
used and kept up to date to inform future policy development, but that a key 
factor was ensuring policies had the flexibility to account for the unknowns. It 
was also highlighted that the Council had a duty to cooperate with other 
organisations, stakeholders and service providers in future policy development 
and was committed to doing that. 

 Accountability – it was felt that the process was quite opaque and the Committee 
wanted to understand who was responsible for ensuring recommendations were 
included in the final Oxfordshire Plan 2050. It was confirmed that there were 
numerous routes for influencing the choice of policies for the Plan – including 
formal recommendations from Scrutiny and cross-county officer and Member 
groups which ensured that views and priorities were heard throughout the 
process. The Committee was advised that there were both formal stages and 
informal conversations. Cllr Hollingsworth advised that he would do his best to 
ensure any recommendations made by the Committee were included in the final 
Plan, provided Cabinet accepted them. 

 Accessibility – the Committee felt the report was difficult to read and language 
used was very opaque.  

 Evidence – it was felt there was not enough evidence base to refine the policy 
options and move from Regulation 18 to Regulation 19 stage. The Planning 
Policy and Place Manager advised that evidence was still required (e.g. flood 
risk and Green Belt) and that evidence got better, deeper and of better quality as 
the process went on and this would be published. The viability evidence was still 
required, which underpinned the other evidence to ensure proposed policy 
options were deliverable. 

 Consultation status – the Committee was unclear of the status of the 
consultation in the whole process and the status of the report itself. 

The Planning Policy and Place Manager advised that the Committee might find it 
helpful to consider the report alongside the report presented to it in July 2021. She 
summarised that Appendix 1 of the report was the main item for consideration and that 
the covering report provided some information on scope, next steps and the Statement 
of Community Involvement, which Cabinet would be asked to approve. She advised 
that the Committee could add value by considering the policy options, reflecting on 
what respondents had said and making recommendations for refined policy options in 
the next stages. 

The Committee made further comments in relation to: 

 Policy options – the ‘policy options’ included in the report were not actually 
options, but themes. It was also not clear to Members that the policy options 
included were high-level and would have further detail sitting beneath them. 
There were concerns that the report claimed to be further along in the process 
than in reality as no policy options were laid out. It was also raised that there 
was no recognition of how policy areas were interlinked (e.g. the impact that 
housing numbers would have on the Green Belt). 

 Consultation process – clarity was needed on the weighting given to the 
consultation process and responses in relation to the policy options at the next 
stage. It was also noted that the consultation response rate was poor and there 
was no specific information provided on the outcome of the focus group. In 
addition, it was felt that separation of the developers and some of the viability 

11



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

calculations was required, as developer interest/profit and public interest needed 
to be separated out in a much more coherent way. 

 Green Belt Review – there was a set process for this type of review set out by 
the Government and it did not necessarily mean any changes would be made. 
The process was an assessment which would be undertaken collectively by local 
authorities and look at the performance of different parcels of Green Belt via a 
qualitative review. The Committee was advised that an expert consultant would 
be commissioned to undertake the work on behalf of the local authorities. 

 Housing density targets – it would be too difficult to get a numerical target as it 
would not work for the different urban/rural areas of Oxfordshire. The best that 
could be hoped for was an aspiration for the highest densities, as other local 
authorities had made clear that they felt housing density was a Local Plan issue. 

 Representative opinion – it was a challenge to get good quality and quantity 
opinion on a plan project which gave a representative view. 

 Oxford-led growth – there was a risk that this could perpetuate inequalities 
between Oxford and other parts of the county, so it was felt that it was unhelpful 
to frame growth in that way. Cllr Hollingsworth advised that Oxford-led growth 
was one of the spatial options but his preference was a focus on public transport 
corridors.  

 Recommendations – it was felt that the report was not at a stage where full 
recommendations could be made and the Committee requested it be brought 
back to a future meeting with additional information for further consideration. Cllr 
Hollingsworth commented that the Committee needed to specify what additional 
information it required. It was agreed that the Scrutiny Officer and the Planning 
Policy and Place Manager would discuss the feasibility of this after the meeting. 

Cllr Imogen Thomas, Cllr Hosnieh Djafari-Marbini and Cllr Lizzy Diggins left the 
meeting and did not return. 

The Head of Planning Services highlighted the time pressure around the production of 
the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 as the Local Plan could not be finalised without it, however 
he did not know the timetable that the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 team was working to. 

The Committee resolved to recommend to Cabinet that: 

1) The Council requests a brief supplementary report that focuses on the points of 
contention within the consultation in order that members (and the public) can 
understand what the political choices are that Oxford City Council is faced with. 

2) The Council seeks to ensure that future consultations on the plan involve greater 
depth of consultation amongst a more demographically representative group of 
respondents. 

3) The Council requests that the results of the focus group undertaken as part of 
the Regulation 18 Part 2 consultation be made publicly available and distributed 
to Members. 

4) The Council works with partners to ensure there is alignment between Thames 
Water’s future investment plans for water treatment works and those areas 
outlined in Oxfordshire for growth. 

5) The Council should support the alternative policy option for policy 16, but with an 
extended remit to include play areas and parks and nature reserves as well. 

6) The Council seeks that current relevant policies are amalgamated into one 
dedicated policy of how the Plan will reduce inequality and deprivation.  
 

12



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

The Committee resolved to agree the exact wording of recommendations via email 
after the meeting before they went to Cabinet on 09 February 2022. 

89. Apologies for absence  

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Marie Tidball (substitute Cllr Lizzy 
Diggins). 

Cllr Linda Smith left the meeting and did not return. 

90. Declarations of interest  

There were no declarations of interest. 

91. Chair's Announcements  

The Chair had no announcements. 

92. Minutes  

The following amendment was requested to minute 81: 

 Between ‘Definition of Net Zero’ and ‘RAG Rating’ bullet points, insert additional 
bullet point: “ZCOP Transport workstream -- concern was expressed that the 
Partnership should include examination of the proposals for a cable car into the 
city as an important means of reducing CO2 emissions and pollutants.” 

 On the bullet point related to ‘Equalities Impact’, after the sentence “Cllr Hayes 
agreed to take that point back and ensure it was reflected in future reports”, 
insert: “It was also pointed out that measures to reduce energy consumption in 
council-owned homes also had potentially significant equalities impact.” 

The Committee resolved to APPROVE the minutes of the meeting held on 18 January 
2022 as a true and accurate record, subject to the above additions. 

93. Work Plan and Forward Plan  

The Committee reviewed the Work Plan and noted the following changes to the 
Forward Plan: 

 Grant Allocations – deferred to September 

 Allocation of Homelessness Prevention Funds 22/23 – deferred to March 

 Draft Oxford Playing Pitches Strategy 2021-2036 – deferred to June 

The Scrutiny Officer advised that there were a lot of papers being considered by 
Cabinet in March and suggested that the Committee consider the following reports: 

 Oxford Economic Strategy and City Centre Action Plan  

 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 

 Oxfordshire Recovery and Renewal Network 

The Committee agreed it was important that it considered the Food Strategy and asked 
the Scrutiny Officer to secure a date for an additional meeting to ensure key Cabinet 
reports could be considered, in consultation with the Chair.  

13



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

The Committee also requested an additional meeting to discuss the Oxfordshire Plan 
2050 item once more information had been received.  

94. Reports for approval  

Cllr Marie Tidball, who had sent her apologies for the meeting, had made some 
suggested amendments to the Climate Emergency Review Group Update related to the 
language around disability inclusivity. The amendments were shared at the meeting 
and the Committee agreed the report with the changes. 

The Scrutiny Officer advised that he had spoken with Cllr Imogen Thomas in relation to 
the Procurement Update and she wanted to put a recommendation together. There was 
no time pressure for the recommendation and it was agreed that the item should be 
deferred for approval at the next meeting. 

The Committee approved the following reports for submission to Cabinet: 

 Budget Review Group Report 

 Climate Emergency Review Group Update  

95. Report back from Scrutiny Panel meetings  

The Committee noted the following update from Cllr James Fry, Chair of the Finance 
and Performance Panel: 

 The Budget Review Group report was signed-off at the meeting on 24 January 
2022. 

96. Dates of future meetings  

The dates of future meetings were noted:  

 07 March 2022 

 05 April 2022 

It was agreed that the meeting on 07 March 2022 would take place remotely and the 
meeting on 05 April 2022 would take place in-person. 

The Committee asked the Scrutiny Officer to find and circulate a date for an additional 
meeting in March, to be held in person if possible. 

 

The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 8.50 pm 

 

Chair ………………………….. Date:  Monday 7 March 2022 

 

When decisions take effect: 
Cabinet: after the call-in and review period has expired 
Planning Committees: after the call-in and review period has expired and the formal 

decision notice is issued 
All other committees: immediately. 

14



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

Details are in the Council’s Constitution. 
 

15



This page is intentionally left blank

16



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 

Scrutiny Priorities 
To April 2022 

Published on 25/02/22 

 

Key: 

Reports in black text are Cabinet reports 

Reports in green text are Scrutiny-commissioned reports 

Reports which are greyed out do not meet the threshold for Scrutiny consideration 

 

April 2022  

Domestic Abuse Review Group 
Update 

 

Priority level: Very High 

Preferred Forum: Scrutiny  

To hear an update on the Council’s activities in relation to the recommendations of 
the Domestic Abuse Review Group.  

 

City Centre Action Plan Priority level: Very High 

Preferred Forum: Scrutiny  

Following public consultations on Oxford's Economic Strategy and City Centre Action 
Plan, Members will be asked to review the consultation reports, agree recommended 
changes to both documents, and delegate authority to sign off the reports once 
required changes are made. 

 

DSS Discrimination Motion Update 

 

Priority level: High 

Preferred Forum: Housing and 
Homelessness  

To hear an update on the progress made by the Council on tackling DSS 
discrimination following its motion earlier this year. 

 

17

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Proposed Scrutiny Work 
Schedule 

To April 2022 

 

 

April 2022 

Committee/Panel Meeting date Reports 

Scrutiny Committee 05 April  City Centre Action Plan 

Domestic Abuse Review Group 
update 

Finance and 
Performance 

None  

Housing and 
Homelessness 

04 April DSS Discrimination Motion Follow-
Up 

 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 16 March 2022 

Report of: Head of Corporate Strategy 

Title of Report:  Oxford City Council Corporate Business Plan 2022/23  

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To approve Oxford City Council’s Corporate Business 
Plan priorities 2022/23 

Key decision: Yes  

Cabinet Member: Cllr  Susan Brown Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Inclusive Growth, Economic Recovery and Partnerships 

Corporate Priority: All Council strategy priorities 

Policy Framework: Council Strategy 2020-2024 

 

Recommendation(s):That Cabinet resolves to: 

1. Agree the draft Oxford City Council Corporate Business Plan priorities 
2022/23, which set out the Council’s priority work for the next financial year;  

2. Delegate authority to the Head of Corporate Strategy in consultation with the 
Council Leader to make further minor amendments to the draft Business 
Plan priorities before implementation; 

3. Note the progress made in delivery against the actions set out in the current 
year’s Corporate Business Plan 2021/22. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Oxford City Council’s Draft Corporate Business Plan 
priorities 2022/23 

Appendix 2 Oxford City Council Corporate Business Plan 2021/22 
update  

Appendix 3 Oxford City Council Corporate Strategy 2020-24 

 

  

21

Agenda Item 6



Introduction and background  

1. Oxford City Council’s Business Plan 2022-23 is an annual document that sets out 
publically the Council’s priority work programme activities for the year. 

2. The Draft Business Plan 2022-23 sets out the third year of activity toward 
achieving the outcomes set out in our Council Strategy 20-24. Some of the actions 
are expected to extend into 2024. 

3. The Business Plan was developed in conjunction with, and is supported by, the 
annual budget and medium term financial plan (MTFP) that will allocate resources 
against the agreed priorities. 

4. The Business Plan will inform the actions laid out in each department service plan, 
and cascaded down into individual employee objectives and targets for the year. 

5. Progress in delivery of the actions set out within the Business Plan will be tracked 
through the year, alongside the existing corporate key performance indicators. 

Development of the Business Plan 2022/23 

6. This year, the number of key actions under each corporate priority has been 
significantly reduced, compared with last year – to help improve the focus and 
clarity of the Business Plan. Therefore, this year each section has between 11-14 
key actions rather, than the 57-76 actions in each section last year. It should be 
noted therefore that there are many important areas of activity that are not 
captured within the Business Plan, but will nonetheless be identified within 
individual departmental Service Plans. 

7. A number of the important work strands under the Council’s Change Programme – 
our internal transformation programme - don’t sit neatly under any of the 
Corporate Priority areas, and so these are captured in an a separate section of the 
Business Plan. 

8. The process for development of the Draft Business Plan 2022-23 has included a 
workshop sessions with Directors and Heads of Service and a Cabinet 
Development Day. 

Document structure 

9. The Business Plan activities sit against our four Council Strategy 20-24 priorities: 
Enable an Inclusive Economy; Deliver More, Affordable Housing; Support Thriving 
Communities and Pursue a Zero Carbon Oxford. 

10. Many activities within the Business Plan are cross cutting in their nature, however 
each activity has been allocated against one of the four strategic priorities to avoid 
repetition. 

Business Plan 2021/22 update 

11. Despite the continuation of the COVID pandemic throughout 2021/22, and the 
additional burdens and duties it placed on the Council to provide strategic and 
operational responses, significant progress has been made in delivery of the 
current year’s Business Plan. 

12. Key achievements include: 

a. The creation of the new countywide Oxfordshire Inclusive Economy 
Partnership which has agreed to establish a social value and procurement 
group of anchor institutions;  

22



b. An extensive and ongoing programme of implementation of the Council’s 
People Strategy across its workforce to build engagement, increase skills, , 
foster individual development, embed core values and, ultimately, improve 
the service we offer residents; 

c. Provision of £132 million of COVID Grants and Rate Reliefs to help impacted 
businesses and support the wider economy up to the end of December 2021. 
Further grants and reliefs are still being applied;  

d. Development of a new Oxford Economic Strategy and City Centre Action 
Plan; 

e. Delivery of a Meanwhile programme of temporary commercial and retail 
accommodation to support developing businesses; 

f. Launch of the ZEZ Pilot in Oxford on 28 February 2022 – the first zero 
emission zone in the UK; 

g. A new Oxford City Housing Ltd (OCHL) Business Plan which increases the 
quantum and range of development sites both within and outside of Oxford, 
to accelerate delivery of homes and to increase returns to the Council; 

h. ODS gained PAS2030 accreditation and is now able to undertake retrofit 
solutions and provide building fabric insulation measures for new build; 

i. Agreement reached with Cherwell District Council that homes delivered for 
Oxford unmet will be allocated through the Oxford housing register directly;  

j. Delivery of more tailored homelessness prevention support, including for 
those who have experienced domestic abuse, for those who need tenancy 
sustainment support alongside help with finding work, and assisting tenants 
with landlord mediation; 

k. Delivery of the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme to improve 
access to private housing for rough sleepers and new Housing First units 
with support delivered by A2 Dominion; 

l. Early Stage Issues Consultation on the Oxford Local Plan 2040 seeking the 
views of the community and stakeholders on the scope and broad content of 
the Plan; 

m. Submission of an application to Government for a Selective Licencing 
Scheme to improve housing standards across the private rented sector in 
Oxford; 

n. Commencement of the integration of Housing, Communities, Customer 
Services and Regulatory Services with two distinct community hubs acting as 
themed pilots to understand how more joined up services can be provided to 
tenants and residents; 

o. 6 monthly review and evaluation of the GO-Active Move Together 
programme demonstrated it is working well;  

p. An application for bathing water status for two stretches of the River Thames 
in Port Meadow was submitted to DEFRA. The Council awaits the 
Government’s response; 

23



q. Launching a Government funded £480k programme of targeted activity 
across the city to increase vaccination take up among those groups that have 
been more vaccine hesitant; 

r. Successful bids to the Safer Streets Fund have significantly increased CCTV 
quality and coverage in the city and is enabling partnership working on the 
Violence Against Women and Girls agenda; 

s. A £14m decarbonisation programme across Hinksey Outdoor Pool, Leys 
Pool and Leisure, Ferry Leisure Centre and Barton Leisure Centre on course 
for completion across these sites between March and June 2022, which will 
reduce the Council’s carbon footprint by 20%; 

t. Work currently progressing to retrofit 240 council homes with measures such 
as loft and cavity wall insulation, external wall insulation and air source heat 
pumps; 

u. A new OCHL carbon reduction target set of 70% below 2013 Building 
Regulations – which is being applied across new developments including 
Almonds Farm, Northfield hostel and Lanham Way; 

v. Construction of the largest public EV charging hub underway at Redbridge 
Park & Ride, due for completion in May 2022; 

w. An updated Asset Management Strategy that commits the Council to make 
future decisions around operational land and buildings that fully integrate 
carbon management goals and targets; 

x. Commissioning of 8 new decarbonisation workstreams through the Zero 
Carbon Oxford Partnership, involving BMW Mini, Oxford University, Scottish 
& Southern Energy, Lucy Group, Oxford Health Trust and others. 

Financial Implications  

13. The Business Pan 2022-23 sets out the high level activities and milestones that 
are supported in the Council budget 2022-23. It does not contain additional or 
specific expenditure commitments. 

Legal Implications 

14. There are no legal issues associated with the Business plan. 

Level of Risk 

15. Delivery of the Business Plan 2022-23 is linked with the Budget 2022-23 and the 
financial and operational health of the Council. This is a high level strategic 
document that doesn’t include risks associated with each of the measures it sets 
out, however failure to deliver the Business Plan carries a reputational risk to the 
Council. 

Equalities Impact 

16. The Business Plan 2022-23 is concerned with high level activities and milestones. 
It contains specific actions that will support the delivery of the Councils strategic 
objectives. 

17. Equality, diversity and inclusion are together a key focus for all the Council’s work. 
They form a core part of all our policies and partnerships, for our residents, staff 

24



and elected members.  As part of delivering the actions through the Business 
Plan, we will, inter alia: 

a. Produce the Oxford City Council Equality and Diversity strategy in 2022; 

b. Embed the People Strategy to ensure our staff are skilled and confident in 
delivering services our residents want, and the workforce as a whole better 
reflects Oxford’s diverse population; 

c. Implement the Oxford City Council Workforce Equalities Action Plan to        
boost   employee diversity through recruitment and apprenticeships and 
expand the management opportunities for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
(BAME) staff and women; 

d. Implement a new inclusive Economic Strategy to increase the opportunities 
for disadvantaged groups to have a fair share in the city’s economy; 

e. Deliver services, grants, community and leisure facilities, parks and cultural 
events that help reduce inequality, increase cohesion and improve health 
and wellbeing across Oxford’s communities; 

f. Support and enable local voluntary and community groups to take a greater 
role in improving the city and the lives of residents; 

g. Implement a Zero Emission Zone to cut air pollution and increase 
opportunities for active travel – walking and cycling - positively impacting on 
the health of residents across the City; 

h. Use our work with our subsidiaries ODS and OCHL to ensure the essential 
services they provide for us prioritise the same focus on equality, diversity 
and inclusion; 

i. Continue our commitment to the Oxford Anti-Racism Charter by encouraging 
communities, businesses and organisations to take ownership of their own 
contributions to anti-racism in the city; 

j. Ensure that staff employed directly or on behalf of the city council are paid at 
least the Oxford Living Wage, and encourage our suppliers to do the same; 

k. Implement the new Procurement Strategy that seeks to increase weighting 
on Social Value from 5% to 10%; 

l. Develop an Inclusive Economy Charter for the city; 

m. Work with key partners including OxLEP and the Oxfordshire Inclusive 
Economy Partnership to increase the sector-based higher and advanced 
level apprenticeship programmes delivered locally; 

n. Set out ambitious plans to increase the supply of affordable housing, 
including social rent and intermediate tenure types; 

o. Trial new homelessness prevention services for private rented sector 
tenants, establishing a "single gateway” approach to make it easier for 
people to get the support they need quickly; 

p. Extend the impact of social prescribing that links funding to health 
improvement activities delivered through the Council's leisure, wellbeing and 
community facilities; 

25



q. Implement the countywide homelessness prevention strategy to reduce 
homelessness and rough sleeping in Oxford; 

r. Tackle issues of isolation in our elderly communities; 

s. Deliver the Oxford Safer Communities Partnership’s Violence Against 
Women and Girls, and Hate Crime plans; 

t. Establish a Retrofitting Champions scheme to highlight the financial and 
environmental benefits of Council-funded insulation measures and boost take 
up among tenants. 

Environmental Implications 

18. The Business Plan 2022/23 sets out the third year plans for delivery of the Council 
Strategy 2020-24 corporate priority: Pursue a Zero Carbon Oxford. It sets out a 
number of key actions that act on the clear message from Oxford’s Citizens’ 
Assembly on Climate Change to continue to take a lead in reducing emissions 
and increasing biodiversity. 

19. Planned actions to achieve these objectives include: 

a. Accelerating the rate of retrofit of Council housing stock; 

b. Setting out plans for implementation of EV infrastructure across Oxford and 
the further electrification of the ODS fleet; 

c. Strengthening our work with ZCOP partners to deliver citywide 
decarbonisation against the Zero Carbon Oxford Roadmap; 

d. Increasing compliance with energy efficiency regulations among residential 
landlords; 

e. Finalising plans through extensive engagement with key stakeholders, 
community groups and residents, for implementation of a range of transport 
measures that may include Connecting Oxford, the ZEZ, extension of 
Controlled Parking Zones and a 20mph speed limit that will improve air 
quality and cut carbon emissions; 

f. Build public understanding of the importance of biodiversity and set a policy 
on offsetting linked to biodiversity enhancement; 

g. Planting more street trees; 

h. Engaging and encouraging all residents to cut their own carbon emissions; 

i. Delivering a new Recycling and Waste Strategy for Oxford.   

Conclusion 

20. The Oxford City Council Business Plan 2022/23 provides a focused and high level 
plan for the key actions the Council intends to take over the next year to deliver its 
strategy across its four priorities: inclusive economy, housing delivery, thriving 
communities and zero carbon. The document will be key to setting service plans 
for all Council departments, and cascaded down into individual employee 
objectives and targets for the year. 

  

26



 

Report author Mish Tullar 

Job title Head of Corporate Strategy 

Service area or department Corporate Strategy 

Telephone  07483010499   

e-mail  mtullar@oxford.gov.uk 

 

Background Papers: None 

 

27



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1: OXFORD CITY COUNCIL DRAFT BUSINESS PLAN 2022/23  
 
Oxford City Council Change Programme – 2022/23 
 
Oxford City Council has accelerated and widened its structural transformation work over the past year. This now involves all areas of 
service, all teams and all individual employees with the objective of delivering improved outcomes and secure financial sustainability. Over 
the next year, the internal and external Change Programme will be focused on: 

 Full use of digital technologies to maximise the efficiency of our operations and make it easy for customers to deal with us 

o New website that is designed around the needs of our customers 

 Reducing the number of office locations and enabling staff to work flexibly 

o Deploying Microsoft 365 to all our staff 

 Increasing our opportunities to make more money with a commercial focus on supplier management and seeking new innovative 

and creative income streams 

o Reviewing our contracts with a commercial focus 

 Removing bureaucracy through effective governance that ensures rapid decision making 

o Simplifying our meeting structures 

 Developing our workforce to become high performing by updating core skills, maximising our resources and target our work in the 

right places 

o Attract and retain a talented workforce 

o Reducing our need for agency workers 

 
Year 3 delivery of our Council Strategy 2020-24  
 
Priority 1 - Enable an inclusive economy 
 

 Outcome Year 3-4 actions (22/23 and 23/24) 

Deliver Our Council-owned companies will have increased their 
profits to help maintain the services we provide, and we 

Implement the new Procurement Strategy that seeks to 
increase weighting on Social Value from 5% to 10%. 

29



will have supported more local businesses, including 
social enterprises and cooperatives, by changing the 
way we buy our goods and services.  

Work to align and deliver the actions in social value plans for 
both the Council’s wholly-owned companies, Oxford City 
Housing Limited (OCHL) and Oxford Direct Services (ODS). 

Our staff will be more skilled and confident in delivering 
services our citizens want and our workforce will better 
reflect Oxford’s diverse population. 

Implement the priority aims and actions from the Workforce 
Equality report for 22-24 including: 

 Create an Equalities Steering Group; 

 Develop workforce development plans for each service; 

 Review recruitment and on-boarding to consider how we 
can apply best practice at different stages of the 
recruitment process; 

 Improve our data collection so we can use evidence-based 
insights, data, and experience to progress our diversity and 
inclusion commitments.  

Partner Oxford’s economy will be stronger, with diverse sectors 
providing a wider range of accessible business and 
employment opportunities for all. 

Develop an Inclusive Economy Charter for the city, to 
articulate and promote a high standard of economic and social 
wellbeing for businesses and organisations to adhere to. 

We will have secured different types of new workspace 
in the city to support business and employment growth 

Use the £20m identified in the Council budget to actively seek  
invest opportunities in regeneration across the city, where our 
investment could support the priorities of the Business Plan 
including supporting access to good quality space and jobs 
and wider regeneration.  

Explore the potential for an affordable workspace policy 
through the next Local Plan. 

Work proactively with landowners to intensify, modernise, and 
regenerate commercial space on key employment sites as 
defined in the Local Plan and in line with the objectives of the 
Economic Strategy 

Seek planning permission and if permitted commence 
redevelopment of Standingford House on Cave Street as 
flexible and affordable workspace, working with a workspace 
operator. 

30



The movement of people and goods into and within the 
city will have improved, resulting in less traffic 
congestion, better air quality and faster journey times. 

Work with the County Council to refresh the Oxford Transport 
Strategy and help secure funding to support the 
implementation of a range of measures that may include the 
Connecting Oxford proposals, including traffic filters, a 
Workplace Parking Levy, extension of Control Parking Zones 
and the 20mph speed limit, as well as improvements to active 
travel and public transport. Throughout the year there will be 
extensive engagement and consultation with key 
stakeholders, community groups and residents to help shape 
the final proposals. As part of our work on this we will seek to 
ensure that proposals consider the inclusive economy 
principles of our Economic Strategy.  

Work with Network Rail and the County Council to actively 
pursue funding for the Oxfordshire Connect programme of rail 
improvements. This will include agreeing the shortlist of 
masterplan options for Oxford Station & interchange with 
partners to inform the further work necessary to identify a 
preferred option. It should also include work on the detailed 
design and funding options for the Cowley Branch Line.  

Influence We will improve the resilience of the city centre and its 
relevance to more of our citizens 

Adopt the City Centre Action Plan and set up task groups with 
key partners for each workstream.   

The city centre will be expanding to the west. Attractive 
new areas will be emerging around Oxford station, in 
Oxpens and Osney Mead - but not at the expense of the 
health and vibrancy of the existing city centre. 

We will:  

 Continue to facilitate the Oxford West End Strategic Board, 
involving local and central Government, and landowners to 
co-ordinate and align activity; 

 Adopt a new West End masterplan Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) to guide development in the 
West End Area of Change, in line with the Local Plan; 

 As part of OxWED, submit outline planning permission for 
the redevelopment of Oxpens to enable this key site’s 
redevelopment with a mix of uses that enhances the city 
centre; 

31



 Continue to develop plans for a new river crossing 
connecting Osney Mead into the wider City Centre; 

 Work with partners to develop a business case for 
investment in the West End and secure funding. 

More organisations in Oxford will be socially and 
environmentally responsible - paying the Oxford Living 
Wage and adopting practices that deliver clean 
economic growth which benefits all residents. 

Continue to work with partners to increase adoption of the 
Oxford Living Wage across the city. 

Oxford will have improved the workforce skills it needs 
through higher educational attainment and more training 
for the jobs of the future. 

Work with key partners including OxLEP and the Oxfordshire 
Inclusive Economy Partnership to increase the sector-based 
higher and advanced level apprenticeship programmes 
delivered locally, and promote the increased use of the new 
Community Employment Plan Toolkit across Oxford’s new 
developments. 

 
  

32



Priority 2: Deliver more, affordable housing 
 

 Outcome Year 3-4 actions (22/23 and 23/24) 

Deliver We will have increased the supply of high quality, energy 
efficient, accessible, and affordable housing, including 
new council housing as well as other types of homes to 
rent and for sale at different prices. 

Deliver a new Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy for Oxford, setting out ambitious plans to increase the 
supply of affordable housing, including social rent and 
intermediate tenure types, and explore new approaches, such 
as developing an Oxford Living Rent intermediate housing 
product. 

Provide strategic direction and support to Oxford City Housing 
Limited (OCHL), the City Council’s wholly owned housing 
company, to help it deliver and develop its Business Plan – 
this will involve acting as a best practice housing provider, 
scaling up the delivery of new housing, and considering a 
range of approaches to tenure including exploring an Oxford 
Living Rent. 

Deliver an integrated Oxford Needs Homes communications 
and engagement campaign – that explains the need to 
increase supply and build understanding as to how this will 
help address a range of needs. 

Take actions to improve the condition and energy efficiency of 
the Council's existing housing stock to improve standards and 
quality of living, informed by a Strategic Review of stock to 
inform investment and regeneration decisions and a new 
Asset Strategy. 

In regeneration projects such as Blackbird Leys, our new 
housing will be high quality with improved public spaces 
and served by good public transport and cycling and 
walking routes. 

Continue to support and where appropriate fund a number of 
key regeneration and new development schemes that will 
bring forward much needed housing, including new Council 
housing - Blackbird Leys District Centre regeneration (Council 

33



is a delivery partner); Oxpens (Council is a Joint Venture 
partner); South Oxford Science Village (Council is a land 
owner); Northern Gateway (Council is the Local Planning 
Authority and infrastructure funder). 

More Council and private sector tenants will have been 
supported to stay in their homes when they face the 
prospect of eviction. 

Continue to improve services and countywide partnership 
working, strengthening the corporate commitment to 
homelessness prevention. Increase focus on upstream 
prevention, launching a trial of new prevention services for 
private rented sector (PRS) tenants, and establish a "single 
gateway” approach to make it easier for people to get the 
support they need quickly.  

Partner More developers, housing associations and others will 
view Oxford as a good place to build a range of different 
housing types. 

Consult on policy options and potential development sites for 
the Oxford Local Plan 2040, and support the next stages of 
development of the Oxfordshire 2050 plan, to address future 
housing need including the location and levels of housing & 
employment across Oxfordshire, and sustainable transport 
options. 

Working with neighbouring authorities we will be 
implementing the agreed countywide approach to 
meeting housing needs. 

Work with neighbouring councils, landlords and stakeholders 
to deliver more houses that are integrated into the city and 
wider county with appropriate infrastructure to enhance a 
sense of community and wellbeing and enable people to live 
closer to where they work.  

Working with housing associations we will have 
delivered more move on accommodation for people in 
need. 

Work with partners to deliver and increase access to housing 
to best meet locally identified needs, such as for those who 
have experienced rough sleeping and those living in 
temporary accommodation, and provide wraparound services 
such as mental health and substance support. 

Working with landlords we will have improved the quality 
and energy efficiency of privately rented homes in 
Oxford. 

Subject to Government approval, implement a Selective 
Licensing Scheme for all PRS property across the city.   

Influence New housing including new urban extensions will be 
being built to create strong communities with good local 

Work with Oxfordshire councils and other partners to ensure 
that schemes are well designed, are integrated into the city 

34



amenities and sustainable transport links into the city. 
Sites valued by local people for leisure and recreation 
will be protected. 

and the wider county, and promote both active travel and 
public transport alongside low carbon/zero carbon building.  

 
  

35



Priority 3 - Support thriving communities 
 

 Outcome Year 3-4 actions (22/23 and 23/24) 

Deliver Our services, grants, community and leisure facilities, 
parks and cultural events will have helped reduce 
inequality, increase cohesion and improve health and 
wellbeing across Oxford’s communities. 

Deliver a Service Integration Programme that brings together 
our Communities, Housing, Customer Service and Community 
Safety teams to deliver a seamless and more efficient service 
for our tenants and residents. 

Work with Fusion Lifestyle to sustain a recovery in usage of 
our Leisure Centres, which have been badly impacted through 
the pandemic. Develop a plan for their longer term 
sustainability. 

Children and young people’s resilience and confidence 
will have increased through the educational and 
recreational activities we offer. 

With the County Council, which is now investing in youth 
service provision in Oxford, review our Youth Ambition 
Programme and seek closer partnership working to achieve a 
more efficient and effective joint approach to support children 
and young people.  

As a good landlord, we will have worked with our Council 
tenants and residents to strengthen local communities; 
and worked with other major landlords to improve the 
services they provide.  

Design and implement a new locality-based model for 
supporting our tenants and residents, shaped by their views 
and needs - improving engagement and driving up tenant 
satisfaction levels. 

Respond to the feedback from the recent Tenant Survey, 
through a programme of increased investment into our council 
stock and improvements to our repairs service. 

Our parks and public spaces will remain clean, safe, and 
well maintained, and will be accessible to more people to 
people to enjoy the health and wellbeing benefits they 
provide. 

Extend the impact of social prescribing that links funding to 
health improvement activities delivered through the Council's 
leisure, wellbeing and community facilities and maximise the 
opportunities from our Go Active and Move Together 
programmes to get more people active. 

Putting in place transition arrangements for a new burial space 
in Oxford; and a firm delivery plan. 

Partner Working with neighbouring councils and partners, we will 
prevent homelessness, move people in temporary 

Work with partners to implement the countywide 
homelessness prevention strategy to reduce homelessness 

36



accommodation more rapidly into secure housing, and 
ensure that no one has to sleep rough on the streets of 
Oxford. 

and rough sleeping in Oxford, through new commissioned 
services to deliver a housing-led approach, and support 
people through more flexible and responsive services.   

Continue to transform our homelessness services based on 
the principles of early homelessness prevention and rapid 
rehousing, working in partnership to prevent people losing 
their homes, and bringing down numbers of people in 
temporary accommodation. 

Local voluntary and community groups will be better 
engaged with, supported and enabled to take a greater 
role in improving the city and the lives of citizens. 

Implement the Thriving Communities Strategy - delivering 
programmes of work to: 

 Increase participation, inclusivity and accessibility of leisure 
and community centres, arts venues and parks, ensuring 
they work for everyone; 

 Tackle issues of isolation in our elderly communities; 

 Protect and safeguard the heritage of local communities as 
part of our place-based and asset development strategies 
for the future.  

Work closely with advice centres and other community and 
voluntary sector organisations to extend their support and 
reach across Oxford's diverse communities, linking with 
locality hubs and the Council welfare services and contact 
centre. 

Increasing numbers of people who walk and cycle 
around the city, benefitting their health and wellbeing. 

Secure funds to deliver the first phase(s) of the Oxford 
Greenways cycle-routes project.  

Our work with Thames Valley Police will keep 
communities safe and help reduce hate crime, human 
trafficking, modern slavery, domestic abuse, sexual 
violence, drug-related crime and antisocial behaviour. 

Work with our partners to deliver the Oxford Safer 
Communities Partnership’s Violence Against Women and 
Girls, and Hate Crime plans.  

Vulnerable people will continue to be safeguarded 
against harm. 

Work with other agencies to develop local responses to the 
findings of the Modern Slavery research.  

Influence Oxford’s diversity will continue to be celebrated, with a 
greater sense of togetherness across its communities. 

Embed an Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion strategy that will 
increase trust and belonging between the Council and 

37



communities, predicated on inclusive values and reflecting the 
rich diversity in Oxford - and help us to build back 
fairer. Refresh the gender-balanced Race Advisory Group 
every two years.  

Citizens will increase their active engagement in civic 
and political life. 

 

 
  

38



Priority 4 - Pursue a zero carbon Oxford 
 

 Outcome Year 3-4 actions (22/23 and 23/24) 

Deliver Oxford City Council will have reduced the carbon 
footprint from its own operations to zero.  

Commission deep dive energy audits for Council buildings 
where we pay the energy bill to identify carbon reduction 
measures and optimum ways to transition from gas to electric 
based and other low carbon heating; and pursue funding 
opportunities to undertake the works identified. 

Develop a plan outlining next steps towards the full 
decarbonisation of fleet vehicles by 2030.  

Commission a new Sustainability Strategy to provide a 
roadmap for the many actions the Council is taking on 
decarbonisation and biodiversity. 

All new building by Oxford City Council will be 
significantly more energy efficient – moving towards 
near-zero or zero carbon standards.  

Improve standards of Council/OCHL build in line with 
legislative and market developments and above the legal 
minimum - and balance further increases in the standard for 
energy efficiency with the need to increase both affordable 
housing supply and financial returns to the Council. 

We will have a significant programme of energy 
efficiency improvements across of our existing council 
housing. 

Accelerate our Council house retrofit programme against 
requirements identified in the Stock Condition Survey, utilising 
the experience gained from existing programmes and the £7m 
we have already committed over the next four years to 
optimise our approaches to retrofit; and seek additional 
government funding through national schemes as they come 
forward. Establish a Retrofitting Champions scheme involving 
tenants and those in other accommodation to help 
engagement, highlight the financial and environmental benefits 
and boost take up of measures among tenants.  

Partner All new building by developers in Oxford will be 
significantly more energy efficient – moving towards 
near-zero or zero carbon standards, with some 
examples of carbon-positive development.  

Work with our Zero Carbon Oxford Partnership (ZCOP) 
partners to accelerate emissions reduction in the city, focusing 
on priority areas identified in the ZCOP roadmap and action 
plan - including retrofit of residential and commercial buildings, 

39



supply chain, active travel, freight, new green technologies 
and skills.  

We will be promoting and encouraging the higher energy 
efficiency standards that will have been set nationally by 
the Government for residential and commercial 
landlords.  

Promote and incentivise compliance with energy efficiency 
(MEES) regulations among residential landlords. Prepare to 
extend this work into commercial premises in the following 
year. 

Oxford will have taken a leading role in the adoption of 
electric vehicles (EVs). 

Finalise an EV Strategy and Implementation Plan for Oxford, 
and work with ODS and commercial operators to identify 
optimal approaches for its implementation to accelerate the 
delivery of EV infrastructure across the city, including greater 
provision for car clubs. 

Air quality throughout the city will have improved. Work with officers at the County Council to deliver an 
integrated programme of transport measures to reduce private 
car use and improve air quality in the city, including the 
phased roll out of ZEZ and increase in walking, cycling and 
public transport usage. 

Our streets, neighbourhoods and open spaces will be 
greener with more trees and other plants, and increased 
biodiversity. 

Build public understanding of the importance of biodiversity 
and set a policy on offsetting linked to biodiversity 
enhancement and identify Council land and other sites - or 
even buildings - where this could be applied. This will be 
needed to help meet a statutory requirement (expected from 
2023 onwards) that all new development delivers 10% 
Biodiversity Net Gain on the site itself, or elsewhere under an 
agreed programme determined by the Council as Planning 
Authority.  

Implement the Council’s Urban Forest Strategy, initially by 
securing funding and sites to deliver additional street trees in 
Oxford to mark the Platinum Jubilee ‘Queen’s Canopy’ 
celebrations. Use the opportunity to encourage Oxford 
institutions and residents to plant trees on their own land. 

The city will become more resilient to climate change 
including improved flood defences. 

 

40



Influence We will campaign for the Government to introduce more 
rigorous energy efficiency standards on new build and 
bring forward the end of petrol and diesel vehicle sales. 

Work with neighbouring authorities through Oxfordshire Plan 
2050 and through ZCOP to lobby Government for powers that 
would allow councils to set higher energy efficiency standards 
for new development.  

Citizens, businesses and other organisations in the city 
will be taking action to reduce carbon emissions and 
increase biodiversity. 

Work with other Oxfordshire Councils to implement a Zero 
Carbon Communities Campaign to encourage and support 
residents to reduce their own carbon footprints.  Train and 
educate our Council staff so we can use all of our points of 
contact with citizens to build engagement and encourage 
behaviour change across domestic energy use, transport, 
waste and recycling and other areas that help decarbonisation 
and boost biodiversity. 

Deliver and implement an updated Recycling and Waste 
Strategy for Oxford that supports the circular economy and 
ensures that waste reduction forms a key part of our goal of 
becoming a zero carbon city by 2040. The updated Strategy 
will also address an increase in street littering and will 
help prepare the city for likely significant changes in waste 
management expected to be introduced by Government 
following the 2021 Environment Act. 

 

41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 – OXFORD CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS PLAN 2021/22 UPDATE 
 
Enable an Inclusive Economy 
 

 Outcome Year 2 actions (21/22) Progress update  

Deliver Our Council-owned 
companies will have 
increased their profits 
to help maintain the 
services we provide, 
and we will have 
supported more local 
businesses, including 
social enterprises and 
cooperatives, by 
changing the way we 
buy our goods and 
services.  

In line with our Procurement 
Strategy, we will increase the 
level of social value secured 
through our contracts with a focus 
on maximising opportunities 
through the tendering process, 
promotion of the Oxford Living 
Wage, and a programme of 
supply-chain engagement. This 
will also include our work to 
encourage more local small 
businesses, charities, co-
operatives and social enterprises 
to bid for contracts, working 
closely with OxLEP.  

 A new schedule of standard amendments for all JCT 
2016 build contracts being entered into via the new 
Framework Agreement has been drawn up. These 
include an appendix containing the contractor's 
proposals for Social Value to be agreed by the 
company and a requirement to sign up to the 
Council’s Living Wage policy for all employees 
employed under the build contract.                                                                                                                                                       

 We have consistently achieved well above the 35% 
and 45% targets for SME and Local procurement 
respectively, peaking at 66 and 76 % in certain 
months.  

 Secured funding for a Community Wealth Building 
Officer to work closely with procurement and social 
enterprises and community owned businesses 
through the Owned by Oxford Project, launched 
September 2021.   

 The Oxford Inclusive Economy Partnership (OIEP) 
has agreed to establish a social value and 
procurement group of anchor institutions. Social 
value learning sessions have taken place with officers 
from Procurement, Regeneration and Economy and 
the chairs of the new OIEP group.  

 36 new Oxford Living Wage Members have self-
certified in 21-22 and a campaign delivered for Living 
Wage Week in November 2021.                                                                           

43



 The Council and its wholly-owned 
housing company, Oxford City 
Housing Limited (OCHL), will use 
its capital investment 
programmes to, where 
appropriate, work with Oxford 
Direct Services Limited (ODS), 
local contractors and local supply 
chains. This will serve to increase 
local capability, capacity, and 
spend in Oxford’s construction 
industry, and support the local 
economy.  

 OCHL and ODS have entered into several contracts 
to deliver new affordable homes, and to extend and 
refurbish existing council-owned properties. 15 are on 
site or recently completed so far. Discussions are on-
going between the two companies to identify future 
opportunities to work together. 

Our staff will be more 
skilled and confident 
in delivering services 
our citizens want and 
our workforce will 
better reflect Oxford’s 
diverse population.    

Implement the People Strategy:  There has been an ongoing programme of 
engagement with Council staff throughout 2021/22 to 
embed the People Strategy involving fortnightly 
Leadership Conversation sessions for managers and 
regular all staff Let’s Talk sessions.   

o   Leadership framework for 
behaviours and competencies 

 One to one coaching was provided for senior leaders 
backed with a 360 feedback pilot. 

 We will shortly agree and deliver a leadership 
programme. 

o   Develop a high performing 
and flexible workforce 

 A new employee engagement baseline was created 
with a survey of all employees and followed up with 
pulse employee surveys to track progress.  

 Leaders and their teams were supported to develop 
localised action plans to make organisational 
development improvements.   

o   Develop a culture of wellbeing, 
diversity and engagement 

 There has been successful recruitment of an 
apprenticeship cohort (of those appointed, 55% were 
BAME, 91% were under the age of 30 and 55% were 
female). 

44



 An Equalities Steering Group has been set up. 

 Wellbeing intranet resources have been produced 
including: Domestic Abuse information & support; 
wellbeing success stories & tips; and there are 
weekly articles on wellbeing in Connected Council. 

 A Teams channel was launched focused on wellbeing 
issues, with almost 100 members.  

o   Ensure the People Team 
transforms and supports the 
cultural change required in the 
Council. 

 The Corporate Management Team (CMT) has agreed 
the outline operating model for the People Team to 
transform from: 
o Doing digital to being digital 
o Centre-driven to human-centred solutions 
o Compliance and control to trust and 

empowerment 
o Integrated systems to a platform for unified 

engagement 
o Minimal analytics to data-driven practices for 

decision-making and design 

Deliver the Oxford City Council 
Workforce Equalities Action Plan 
year 2 actions, to include: 

 

o   Increase representation of 
BAME employees in the 
workplace 

 At 31/12/21 our workforce profile showed 14.61% of 
staff reporting as BAME against a target of 13.5% for 
31/03/22. 

o   Increase representation of 
BAME and women at all 
management levels 

 The Annual Workforce Equalities report published at 
31/03/21 shows that the proportion of women in 
senior roles had increased now making up 41.7% of 
roles at grade 11 plus compared to 35% the previous 
year.   

45



 Black and minority ethnic employees remain under-
represented in management roles making up 6% of 
managers. 

o   Publish pay gaps that focus on 
gender, ethnicity and disability 

 All of the pay gap reports have been published on the 
Council website and the gender pay gap has been 
published on the government website. 

 

o   Drive cultural change in 
leadership to foster an inclusive 
culture and environment  

 Service Planning process now include required 
People Strategy changes, as well as service-based 
developments.   

o   Raise awareness of 
“Unconscious Bias” in recruitment 
practices  

 Recruitment policies and procedures have been 
reviewed. 

o   Ensure valuing diversity is 
promoted. 

 All five of the Council’s values, including Inclusion 
and Respect, are embedded in the People Strategy 
communications programme. 

Deliver the Customer Experience 
Strategy year 2 actions, including 
improving access and inclusion 
for our customers, streamlining 
processes and maximising 
automation where possible with a 
particular focus on supporting 
and enabling people that do not 
have access to digital 
technologies to become more 
confident and connected.  

 Most of the activity listed for 2021 has been delivered 
as agreed. As at December 2021, just over 50% of all 
transactions are being carried out online.   

 The Change Programme has reviewed the customer 
experience model and agreed the investment 
required to enable this to be driven further across the 
business from end to end in each process where 
there is a customer interaction. This will also be 
articulated in each service plan as it applies to each 
service area. 

46



Partner Oxford’s economy will 
be stronger, with 
diverse sectors 
providing a wider 
range of accessible 
business and 
employment 
opportunities for all. 

Working with the Oxford Strategic 
Partnership, we will consult and 
launch Oxford’s Economic 
Strategy and City Centre Action 
Plan. This will set out areas 
where the Council can directly 
intervene, and where it will need 
to work with public and private 
sector partners to respond to the 
economic impacts of COVID-19. 
The strategy will consider likely 
trends moving forward; the 
economic opportunities in 
different parts of the city, and the 
proposed major growth areas; 
support for sectors hardest hit, 
such as retail, hospitality and the 
wider visitor economy; how to 
develop growth sectors, such as 
science and tech, creative 
industries; the role of 
infrastructure in unlocking growth; 
and the skills agenda. 

 Consultation on both the Oxford Economic Strategy 
and Implementation Plan, and the City Centre Action 
Plan were undertaken in late 2021/early 2022, and 
the findings are being assessed and amendments to 
the draft strategies made before final adoption and 
implementation. 

47



We will continue to support the 
survival and resilience of local 
businesses adversely affected by 
the pandemic through available 
grant funding. As part of a move 
to increase local economic 
strength, we will increasingly shift 
our financial support to those who 
have new ideas; that need to 
adapt or pivot their current 
business model in response to 
changing circumstances; or that 
want to support local job seekers. 

 The Council’s COVID Grants and Rate Reliefs were 
fully allocated with £132 million provided to help 
impacted businesses and support the wider economy 
up to the end of December 2021. Further grants and 
reliefs are still being applied.   

 The Council secured an additional £991k to support 
the pivot away from financial support to business 
adaptation and development of resilient business 
models, whilst supporting some businesses suffering 
due to continued reduced foreign visitors. 
 
 

Work with district council partners 
to support OxLEP and 
Experience Oxfordshire in 
developing a countywide plan to 
support the recovery of the 
broader visitor economy. 

 Support was provided to OxLEP to develop a 
package of support for Oxfordshire’s visitor economy, 
which is now backed by £1.7m of Government 
COVID recovery funding.  

In direct response to the increase 
in vacant units caused by the 
pandemic, we will deliver the 
“Meanwhile in Oxfordshire” 
project. This will identify and 
invest in empty units to facilitate 
their temporary use, supporting 
activity on the high street, and 
working with local people to start, 
test, and grow their business 
ideas.  

 The project is on-going. The first units secured and 
occupied have been announced in Oxford: 965 sq. m 
of space has been secured for activation from a 
target of 1,935, with 260 occupiers (and counting) 
seeking space.  

48



 We will have secured 
different types of new 
workspace in the city 
to support business 
and employment 
growth 

We will refurbish and repurpose 
our 1-3 George Street asset, as 
an affordable, energy efficient, 
co-working hub. The space will 
be designed to meet the needs of 
early stage businesses, including 
in the creative and social 
enterprise sectors. We will also 
appoint an operator to manage 
the space and provide support to 
tenants. 

 Construction is underway with the launch expected in 
spring 2022.  

We will develop a Transport and 
Connectivity Prospectus, working 
with the County Council and bus 
operators. This will bring together 
proposed short, medium and 
longer-term interventions to 
support the economic recovery by 
promoting inclusive, active and 
public travel modes.  

 City and County officers and portfolios are now 
working through a Transport and Development Joint 
Steering Group to develop a new Central Oxfordshire 
Transport Strategy.  

We will work with partners to 
develop an integrated active 
travel network, including 
delivering cycle improvements at 
Boults Lane, Marston, Cuckoo 
Lane/Headington Hill and 
Boundary Brook/Donnington Rec, 
with a combined value of £1m, 
funded by the Growth Deal. 

 Planning applications are due in Spring 2022, with 
construction following on if granted.  

We will support Network Rail’s 
first stage of major investment in 
Oxford Station, to improve the 

 An initial £69m secured for Phase 2 of the Oxford 
Station improvements. A Transport and Works Act 

49



western entrance, and facilitate 
increased connectivity, including 
East West Rail from late 2024.  

Order has been submitted. The Secretary of State 
has indicated he will hold an inquiry.  

 The City and County Councils and Network Rail have 
published the Oxfordshire Rail Corridor Study 
(ORCS) to guide investment in additional rail capacity 
and boost connectivity. 

 Network Rail has set out a proposed timetable for 
delivery of the Cowley Branch Line. 

We will deliver the pilot phase of 
the Zero Emissions Zone (ZEZ) in 
the city centre, working with the 
County Council. 

 The ZEZ Pilot went live on 28 February 2022. 

 Plans are being developed for implementation of the 
full city centre ZEZ and wider Connecting Oxford 
traffic management schemes in 2023/24. 

 

The movement of 
people and goods 
into and within the 
city will have 
improved, resulting in 
less traffic 
congestion, better air 
quality and faster 
journey times. 

Working with the County Council 
we will create more spaces for 
pedestrian access including the 
creation of Low Traffic 
Neighbourhoods (LTNs), School 
Streets and deploy traffic filters. 

 LTNs were implemented in areas of the east of 
Oxford. However, following concerns expressed by 
the bus companies over knock-on impacts with 
increased congestion of arterial routes, the Council 
has asked Oxfordshire County Council to pause 
further implementation so this can happen in 
conjunction with the Connecting Oxford traffic 
management measures.  

We will support the city centre 
and its businesses as we emerge 
from lockdown. Alongside access 
to grants, where applicable, this 
will include continued promotion 
of outdoor tables and chairs, new 
signage and public information to 
support public health, and a 
marketing campaign to 

 £132 million of grants and reliefs were provided to 
businesses up to end December 2021. 

 Rediscover Oxford and Oxford Christmas campaigns 
were run, involving partnerships with the Oxford Mail 
and Oxford Bus Company, to attract people back into 
Oxford’s city centre. 

50



encourage people to return to the 
city centre to shop local, safely. 
We will also work with local 
partners to explore the feasibility 
of temporarily pedestrianising 
Broad St over summer 2021. 

Influence Working with the City Centre 
Taskforce, we will consult and 
launch the City Centre Vision and 
Recovery Plan to support our 
response to the impacts of 
COVID-19. This will include a 
focus on the independent retail 
offer, the visitor economy and its 
management, public realm, 
transport & movement, 
sustainability, opportunities for 
new workspace and residential 
uses, and inclusive access for all 
our citizens. 

 The City Centre Action Plan consultation was 
undertaken in late December 2021 and the final 
document will be submitted to Cabinet for approval in 
March 2022. 

To attract more footfall and 
activity into the Covered Market, 
and to help it continue to adapt to 
retail trends, we will work with 
traders and stakeholders to adopt 
a new Leasing Strategy; and 
continue work on a masterplan to 
make the case for future long-
term investment in the building.  

 The Covered Market Leasing Strategy was adopted 
by Cabinet in June 2021.  

 Masterplan work continues.  

51



 We will launch Oxford’s West End 
Global Innovation District 
(OxWID) project, taking forward 
this priority project within 
Oxfordshire’s Local Industrial 
Strategy. This will include 
establishing a strategic board to 
help shape a shared vision and 
set objectives for the area, and 
coordinate and align development 
across the key landowners and 
partners. 

 The launch took place in July and a Strategic Board 
is now established.  

 An Investment Prospectus is being finalised.  

We will develop and agree a new 
masterplan for the Oxford Station 
area, working with Network Rail, 
the County Council and OxLEP. 

 Creation of the masterplan is underway. This will 
seek to resolve key issues including the scale of car 
parking and the number of bus stops. 

The city centre will be 
expanding to the 
west. Attractive new 
areas will be 
emerging around 
Oxford station, in 
Oxpens and Osney 
Mead - but not at the 
expense of the health 
and vibrancy of the 
existing city centre. 

We will begin work on an outline 
planning application for the 
Oxpens redevelopment, in 
partnership with Nuffield College. 

 The Outline Planning Application programme is on 
track for submission in 2022. 

52



More organisations in 
Oxford will be socially 
and environmentally 
responsible - paying 
the Oxford Living 
Wage and adopting 
practices that deliver 
clean economic 
growth which benefits 
all residents. 

We will build on the successful 
rollout of the Oxford Living Wage 
by attracting new OLW payers 
and encouraging new businesses 
we support to create Living Wage 
Jobs. 

 36 additional Living Wage payers have self-certified 
in 2021/22.  

 All organisations receiving grants through KickStart, 
Meanwhile, or COVID support are being approached 
to consider self-certifying. 

ODS will establish closer 
alliances with appropriate 
partners to increase delivery of 
social value. 

 ODS has published an update on its social impact at 
https://www.odsgroup.co.uk/About-ODS/Social-
impact.  

Oxford will have 
improved the 
workforce skills it 
needs through higher 
educational 
attainment and more 
training for the jobs of 
the future. 

We will ensure that as our city 
recovers economically, we are 
supporting the development of 
skills and jobs for those most in 
need. The Council will be both an 
employer and intermediary for the 
Kick Start Work Placement 
programme, which provides 
subsidised placements for 16-24 
year olds, into local small and 
medium size companies – 
targeted in the areas which have 
been hit the hardest by the 
pandemic. 

 KickStart has been delivered with 137 placements 
approved across 4 cohorts of businesses. 53

https://www.odsgroup.co.uk/About-ODS/Social-impact
https://www.odsgroup.co.uk/About-ODS/Social-impact


  We will commence the 
Community Employment Support 
programme, working with 
partners, including Aspire and 
Job Centre Plus, to provide 
focused help in localities to help 
people access existing work 
programmes and get back into 
work. 

 Oxford North community employment programme 
submitted and approved. Meetings with the 
development team, OxLEP, City and partners, will 
now commence to support delivery. 

 The Community Employment Support programme 
was delivered as a pilot to April 2021 and then 
extended to October 2021. Next steps will then be 
revised with delivery partner Aspire, based on labour 
market needs. External funding has been sought from 
the Community Renewal Fund and Flexible Support 
Fund (DWP) as part of a wider package of measures 

 
  

54



Deliver More, Affordable Housing 
 

 Outcome Year 2 actions (21/22) Progress Update 

Deliver We will have 
increased the supply 
of high quality, 
energy efficient, 
accessible, and 
affordable housing, 
including new council 
housing as well as 
other types of homes 
to rent and for sale at 
different prices. 

Continue to implement the OCHL 
business plan including putting the 
company on an increasingly stable 
financial footing, developing the skills 
to increase levels of output and 
profitability, bringing in or developing 
experience in Modern Methods of 
Construction (MMC) and zero-
carbon/zero-carbon ready building, 
aiming to acquire development sites 
outside the city, forge partnerships 
and supply chain relationships. 

 A mid-term refresh of OCHL's 10-year Business 
Plan was approved by its Board and noted by the 
SJVG in July 2021. This increased the number of 
projects utilising stage payments by the Council 
to OCHL from 8 to 20 to reduce borrowing costs. 
Whilst this inevitably meant a fall in income 
generated from interest payments by OCHL to 
the Council, OCHL Directors have agreed that 
they have every intention of making up the 
reduced interest return to the Council by way of 
increasing the dividend if at all possible.  

 The new OCHL Business Plan envisages 
increasing the quantum and range of 
development sites both within and outside of 
Oxford, to accelerate delivery of homes and to 
increase profitability, as well as considering new 
structures to enable new sources of funding and 
new joint ventures with commercial partners.  

 A new, Modular Framework has been developed 
to provide cost certainty to OCHL as it moves its 
development programme towards being low and 
ultimately, zero carbon across the piece.  

Broaden ODS’ skill set and 
experience to enable it to partner with 
OCHL in delivering more complex 
housing schemes.  

 ODS gained PAS2030 accreditation and is now 
able to undertake retrofit solutions and provide 
building fabric insulation measures for new build. 

55



Review the Council’s approach to the 
allocation of social housing, to ensure 
it reflects our values and 
priorities, supporting those most in 
housing need, relieving 
homelessness and rehousing rough 
sleepers.   

 A review of the Council’s approach to the 
assessment and allocation of social housing will 
complete in 2022. The review is considering 
changes needed in our policy and practice to 
ensure our approach supports the Council’s 
strategic goals, provides a great customer 
experience, and is efficient. If the review suggests 
changes to the Allocations Policy are needed 
these will be developed and taken forward next 
year. 

 
 

Continue to drive forward a 
programme of mixed-use 
regeneration projects, including 
feasibility work at Diamond Place to 
agree a preferred development 
option.  

 Feasibility study for Diamond Place progressed 
through 2021. 

In regeneration 
projects such as 
Blackbird Leys, our 
new housing will be 
high quality with 
improved public 
spaces and served by 

Start the delivery of the new East 
Oxford Community Centre and 
associated housing, with work on 
site.   

 In November 2021 Cabinet granted authorisation 
to enter into a construction contract for the 
Community Centre refurbishment and new build 
housing scheme subject to the full tender 
submission being within the agreed budget and a 
legally compliant procurement process being 
followed. 

56



good public transport 
and cycling and 
walking routes. 

Work with development partner 
Catalyst Housing to seek planning 
permission for the regeneration of 
Blackbird Leys (including community 
centre, housing, public spaces). 

 The planning application is programmed to be 
submitted in spring 2022.  

Develop a new Housing and 
Homelessness Strategy for Oxford 
City Council setting out the Council’s 
ambition, focused on delivering its 
strategic objectives for increasing the 
supply of good quality affordable 
homes in the city, preventing 
homelessness and ending rough 
sleeping. 

 The development of a new Housing, 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping strategy is 
now well underway. The Homelessness review 
and strategy evidence base has been published, 
providing a strong foundation for the new 
strategy, followed by visioning consultation 
seeking public views on our draft vision and 
priorities.  Using the consultation feedback, a new 
draft strategy and action plan is now being 
developed and will be consulted on in 2022.  

More Council and 
private sector tenants 
will have been 
supported to stay in 
their homes when 
they face the 
prospect of eviction. 

Continue to develop and implement a 
Council-wide approach to 
homelessness prevention. Roll out 
and embed new approaches to early 
intervention to prevent people from 
experiencing homelessness across 
the Council, and tailor the support 
offer to clients to achieve better 
outcomes, based on learning from the 
Trailblazer programme.  

 A corporate homelessness prevention group now 
oversees prevention work across the council 
working closely with Housing Needs 
transformation. As a result a number of new 
measures and changes to services are been 
rolled out across the council to maximise 
homelessness prevention. New initiatives are 
currently being developed and rolled out to 
deliver more tailored homelessness prevention 
support, including for those who have 
experienced domestic abuse, for those who need 
tenancy sustainment support alongside help with 
finding work, and assisting tenants with landlord 
mediation.  

57



Transform of our Housing Needs 
service, to increase its focus on the 
prevention of homelessness.   

 Transformation of Housing Needs is well 
underway, with the prevention of homelessness a 
key principle of the change. 2021/22 has seen 
wide ranging review of the service taking place 
looking at prevention and rapid rehousing, 
alongside the customer experience, with the 
learning from this now informing the early stages 
of implementation, picking up speed through 
2022.  

Strengthen links with key external 
partners, such as the hospitals and 
social services and mental health 
providers, so they can identify those 
at risk of homelessness so council 
services can intervene early and help 
sustain tenancies.  

 We are working with key statutory partners 
through the countywide homelessness work to 
better work together to prevent homelessness, 
such as new pilots led by children's social care, 
and the DHSC-funded Oxfordshire health and 
housing project to support with hospital 
discharges. 

Continue to look for opportunities for 
the council to buy affordable homes 
which planning policy requires private 
developers to deliver (Section 106) in 
order to influence quality and create 
the type of accommodation that 
residents need.   

 Good progress has been made with 45 units of 
S106 housing purchased from Abbey Homes on 
Sandford Road.   

Partner More developers, 
housing associations 
and others will view 
Oxford as a good 
place to build a range 
of different housing 
types. 

Establish closer relationships, 
partnership working arrangements 
and enhanced support and advice for 
developers, housing associations and 
community-led groups to achieve a 
faster rate of delivery of new homes, 
including using innovative and latest 
practice.   

 Some progress has been made, with us working 
with a community-led housing group to explore 
them delivering homes at the Redbridge Paddock 
scheme.  

58



Engage with developers through the 
Housing Delivery Action Plan, 
including more focused engagement 
with key site promoters and 
developers.   

 We issued a call for sites for landowners and 
developers to submit the details of any sites they 
are aware of for consideration in the Housing and 
Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 
and where appropriate for possible allocation in 
the new Local Plan. We have also attempted to 
proactively identify potential sites and contact 
landowners. We are using a newly agreed 
common methodology with the other districts of 
Oxfordshire for the HELAA.   

Begin work on the Oxford Local Plan 
2040 that aligns with the Oxfordshire 
Plan 2050 and neighbouring authority 
local plan programmes where 
possible. This will seek to ensure we 
facilitate growth that aligns to the 
corporate objectives within the 
context of national planning policy.  

 Work has begun on the Oxford Local Plan 2040. 
Consultation took place last year with an Early 
Stage Issues Consultation seeking the views of 
the community and stakeholders on the scope 
and broad content of the plan.  The timetable for 
production of the Local Plan 2040 aims to align 
with that of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 if possible 
and it will seek to implement the strategic policies 
of the Oxfordshire Plan.   

 

Complete the work to establish 
arrangements for Oxfordshire’s 
district councils to help meet Oxford’s 
unmet demand for homes. 

 Talks with all the Districts have progressed well. 
Agreement has been reached with Cherwell, with 
homes delivered for Oxford unmet need to be 
allocated through the Oxford housing register 
directly. For South/Vale and West agreements 
will likely see Oxford-connected people join these 
districts registers.  

59



Working with 
neighbouring 
authorities we will be 
implementing the 
agreed countywide 
approach to meeting 
housing needs. 

Work with housing associations and 
other key partners through the Rough 
Sleeper Taskforce to accelerate the 
move-on of rough sleepers in interim 
accommodation due to the pandemic 
into secure, long term 
accommodation  

 The pandemic saw us deliver the Everybody In 
programme, and now with this scheme ending we 
have worked successfully with the sector to 
discharge those housed into long term housing, 
successfully decanting Canterbury House, and in 
the process of decanting the YHA.  

 We are now delivering the Rough Sleeping 
Accommodation Programme with the sector to 
improve access to private housing for rough 
sleepers, and in the process of delivering new 
Housing First units with support delivered by A2 
Dominion. 

Revise the Council’s Private Rented 
Sector Housing Policy that 
encapsulates a vision to provide good 
quality housing standards for all.  

 Officers have been feeding into the Housing, 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy and 
are planning to develop a policy that will 
complement and align with the aims and 
objectives of the strategy. The policy will be 
developed on a similar timetable to the Strategy 
in 2022.  

Approve a Selective Licensing 
Scheme to enable an application to 
be made to Government in 2021/22 
to improve standards in private rented 
sector housing in Oxford.  

 The Scheme has been approved by Cabinet and 
the proposed designations submitted to the 
government for a decision following extensive 
drafting and advice from the leading legal expert 
on licensing.  

Working with housing 
associations we will 
have delivered more 
move on 
accommodation for 
people in need. 

Campaign for greater national 
controls of the short-let market and 
actively seek enforcement 
opportunities to close the regulatory 
gap.   

 The Leader sent a letter to the Government 
calling for greater powers for Councils to regulate 
short lets which has been picked up by both local 
and national media.  

 Work has taken place with Finance to identify 
over a hundred short lets in the city that have 
stopped paying Council Tax and are claiming 
business rate relief. These premises are being 

60



targeted for planning enforcement and a 
campaign is being planned with ODS to cease 
domestic waste collections and charge them for 
commercial waste collections.   

 A number of successful enforcement cases have 
been taken against short lets, with investigations 
underway where high intensity use can be 
identified.  

Working with 
landlords we will have 
improved the quality 
and energy efficiency 
of privately rented 
homes in Oxford. 

Increase the number of Energy 
Performance Certificates (EPCs) 
issued to landlords in the private 
rented sector by using the new 
delegated powers.  

 The restart of the HMO Licensing Scheme has 
resulted in a renewed focus on EPCs for private 
rented sector (PRS) properties as a licensing 
requirement and the new powers are being used 
where required.  

 Over 600 HMOs have been relicensed since the 
scheme recommenced in June 2021.  

Work with partners to explore the 
appropriateness of additional 
planning briefs or strategies, to guide 
the development of infrastructure and 
exemplar development on the edges 
of the city, including for example, 
around the proposed stations for the 
Cowley Branch Line.   

 Joint working principles have been agreed with 
South and Vale together with an agreement to 
commission consultancy support to bring together 
key infrastructure properties for urban extensions, 
working with County and land owners.  

61



Influence New housing 
including new urban 
extensions will be 
being built to create 
strong communities 
with good local 
amenities and 
sustainable transport 
links into the city. 
Sites valued by local 
people for leisure and 
recreation will be 
protected. 

  As above 

 
  

62



Support Thriving Communities 
 

    

 Outcome Year 2 actions (21/22) Progress update  

Deliver Our services, 
grants, community 
and leisure 
facilities, parks and 
cultural events will 
have helped 
reduce inequality, 
increase cohesion 
and improve health 
and wellbeing 
across Oxford’s 
communities. 
Children and 
young people’s 
resilience and 
confidence will 
have increased 
through the 
educational and 
recreational 
activities we offer. 

Review the Council’s grants 
programme to better align our 
Council priorities with the needs 
of local communities due to the 
impact of COVID-19.   

 The Strategic Grants Review was conducted and in 
December 2021 Cabinet approved changes to the way 
in which community and voluntary sector grants are 
issued following its findings.  

As part of the strategic grants 
review, develop a micro-grant 
programme for local community 
groups to access and 
deliver against local priorities.  

 This is now being taken forwards 

Work strategically with other key 
stakeholders in the city to invest 
in locality-based commissioning 
and delivering shared outcomes.  

 This is now being taken forwards 

Identify opportunities for greater 
collaboration between the Council 
and Voluntary and Community 
Sector (VCS) stakeholders to 
deliver against local priorities and 
leverage in further funding into 
the city.  

 This was one of the key objectives from the Grants 
Review and is being built into the way we work with the 
VCS.  

Develop a Volunteer Protocol to 
ensure the quality of volunteering 
and support to volunteers is of a 
nationally recognised standard.   

 Ongoing 

63



Consider findings of a review of 
leisure provision, with a view to 
reset the offer post-COVID - 
meeting the needs of the city.   

 The review of the Council’s leisure provision in Oxford is 
ongoing. 

Reopen leisure centres safely, in 
meeting the needs and demands 
of residents. Work on a plan to 
ensure accessibility and 
affordability for young people, 
crèche facilities and through 
social prescribing mental health 
support too.  

 Leisure centres have been reopened safely. The 
pandemic has meant that there has been an industry 
wide pressure on staffing and this has impacted Oxford 
in relation to both lifeguards and swimming teachers. 
We have been working with various bodies including 
national agencies such as Sport England, LGA and 
CLOA, as well as local agencies such as universities, 
colleges and schools (through Youth Ambition), job 
centres and other local partners to try and assist with 
this. 

Work with key stakeholders and 
partners to make parks and 
leisure centres and green spaces 
fully accessible. 

 We are continuing our work with user groups, friends of 
parks, leisure advisory board and the green and blue 
spaces network to continue to identify opportunities to 
increase accessibility. 

Develop a strategic partnership 
framework that enables key 
stakeholders in the city to 
confidently share intelligence and 
insight to proactively monitor, 
track and respond to causal 
issues linked to poverty with an 
emphasis on prevention and 
achieving outcomes.  

 Individual frameworks have been developed with health 
and public health that have enabled data sharing to 
support a coordinated response to COVID.  

 The development of a strategic partnership framework 
has been delayed to enable the creation of a Business 
Intelligence Unit within the Council to act as the main 
interface for data and intelligence sharing with external 
stakeholders. 

Building on the success of the 
Youth Ambition Programme we 
will further embed the expertise 
and skills into the workforce 
operating with the locality hubs 

 Each member of the Youth Ambition team has been 
embedded into the hubs model and has a particular 
area of hub focus as well as their own Youth Ambition 
lead area. For example we have one member who has a 
focus on ‘mental health’, one member on ‘work, skills, 

64



model to increase our coverage 
and impact. 

training’, one on ‘mentoring’ and one on ‘female 
participation’ as examples. 

Establish a Youth Ambition 
mentoring programme supported 
by the locality hubs, which can 
support the take up of 
apprenticeships.  

 We have a Youth Ambition team member who has a 
responsibility for ‘mentoring’ and this has been set up. 
We have recruited two apprentices into the Youth 
Ambition team as an outcome. 

Work with the County Council 
and partners to ensure children 
and young people are involved in 
tackling the issues that impact 
them, such as climate change 
and accessing green 
technologies and cultural and 
recreational activities.  

 We have been liaising with the County Council on how 
its newly proposed young people team can work closely 
with Youth Ambition to target resource effectively to 
meet widespread needs within the City. We hold a 
month Children and Young People partnership meeting 
that also supports this. 

 The impact of the pandemic has slowed more specific 
outcomes and engagement opportunities down. 

Work with partners to make the 
case for Oxford to become an 
Opportunity Area, attracting 
associated funding, and related 
initiatives to close the attainment 
gap for disadvantaged, BAME 
and SEND young people. 

 Work to develop a proposed bid for an Education 
Opportunity Area remains on hold due to ongoing 
significant impact of the pandemic creating resourcing 
pressure in both schools and the County Education 
Service. 

 Work has started to look at the possibility of developing 
a case for ‘micro opportunity areas’ linked to the East 
Oxford Community Impact Zone.  

Adapt how we deliver youth work 
to support the changing needs of 
young people, such as the impact 
of online interactions, and help 
address mental health issues 

 We have focused on mental health with one of our 
Youth Workers having a focus for this area of work and 
also working with various secondary schools to target 
identified as in need. 

 We have worked in an agile, but safe way over the 
period of the pandemic and engaged with young people 

65



experienced by many during the 
pandemic.  

through various mechanisms including on-line, in person 
and by phone. 

As a good 
landlord, we will 
have worked with 
our Council 
tenants and 
residents to 
strengthen local 
communities; and 
worked with other 
major landlords to 
improve the 
services they 
provide.  

Develop a more integrated 
frontline locality-based service 
delivery offer involving 6 locality 
hub teams that brings together 
housing, community services, 
tenancy management support, 
etc. to provide a framework for 
greater colocation with partners 
and an emphasis on: 

 Prevention early intervention 
and support 

 Community led co-productive 
social action – where 
residents are involved in 
decision making on matters 
that affect them directly 

 Improved service co-
ordination with issues 
resolved right first time, closer 
to people’s homes 

 Locality-based commissioning 
making decisions on available 
funding to deliver projects that 
meet local needs and 
priorities. 

 The integration of Housing, Communities, Customer 
Services and Regulatory Services is underway with two 
distinct community hubs acting as themed pilots to 
understand process, deliverables, outcomes and costs. 
Learning from these pilots is now being considered and 
will inform future service design. Closer working 
between Tenancy Management and Communities is 
taking place, complementing existing integrated 
working. 

 

66



 Develop a change programme for 
the Council’s landlord services, in 
response to the Housing White 
Paper and carry out an extensive 
survey of residents to gauge 
views and satisfaction. 

 The Housing White paper sets out a series of 
challenges and new work which will need to be 
resourced to deliver the ambitions of the Regulator for 
Social Housing, with a particular focus on resident 
engagement, consumer standards, building and fire 
safety. A project plan has been put together and work is 
underway. 

 A tenant survey was completed in 2021 and provided 
important feedback from council tenants, which will now 
inform changes to our services. An external review will 
be taking place shortly that will provide 
recommendations for further service improvement. 
These will be linked to the Social Housing White Paper 
changes and come together as a unified programme of 
changes to be delivered into 22-23. 

 

Our parks and 
public spaces will 
remain clean, safe, 
and well 
maintained, and 
will be accessible 
to more people to 
people to enjoy the 
health and 
wellbeing benefits 
they provide. 

Evaluate the impact of Go Active 
across the city.  

 We have had the 6 monthly review and evaluation of the 
GO-Active Move Together programme.  This found the 
Move Together pathway is working well. The data 
collected on the platform and the consultations with 
stakeholders show the pathway is clearly reaching its 
intended audience.  

 A full evaluation will be ready during 2022/23 financial 
year. 

Agree a baseline position and 
establish targets with community 
associations/centres including 
resources. 

 This is being pushed back a year while the Thriving 
Communities Strategy is developed.  

67



Encourage and support 
community associations and 
community centres to deliver a 
‘One Planet Living’ approach (a 
vision of the world in which 
people enjoy happy, healthy lives 
within their fair share of the 
earth's resources, leaving space 
for wildlife and wilderness) and 
champion this in our 
communities. 

 This has been delivered within Rose Hill Community 
Centre and the general subject is on the agenda with 
other community associations. However the priority in 
2021/22 has been to focus resources to ensure we have 
opened back up safely. 

 Community associations will be a target audience for the 
Zero Carbon Communities campaign we are running in 
2022. 

 
 

Submit an application to DEFRA 
for designated bathing water 
status for a stretch of the Thames 
in Oxford. 

 An application for bathing water status for two stretches 
of the River Thames in Port Meadow was submitted to 
DEFRA. Government consultation and a decision on the 
application is awaited. 

Partner Working with 
neighbouring 
councils and 
partners, we will 
prevent 
homelessness, 
move people in 
temporary 
accommodation 
more rapidly into 
secure housing, 
and ensure that no 
one has to sleep 
rough on the 
streets of Oxford. 

Make progress with reforming the 
organisational arrangements in 
our Housing Needs service to 
better align services with policy 
and priorities, such as increased 
homelessness prevention and a 
housing-led approach to move-
on. 

 Transformation of Housing Needs continue to progress 
well, informed by homelessness prevention and 
housing-led principles. 2021-22 has seen a wide body of 
work undertaken across the service reviewing policy and 
practice in areas such as prevention, access into the 
private rented sector, temporary accommodation and 
social housing allocations. The learning from these 
reviews is now being considered, with implementation of 
new approaches starting to get underway, accelerating 
as we go into 2022/23. 

Consult and agree the 
Countywide Rough Sleeping 
Strategy, agree countywide 
governance and funding 
arrangements, and develop a 
commissioning strategy for the 
provision of accommodation-

 The consultation for the Countywide Rough Sleeping 
Strategy was completed in the early part of 2021, and a 
final version has been adopted by partners. 
Commissioning arrangements have been agreed and 
carried out, resulting in a new Alliance of partners being 
appointed to start delivery of services across the County 
from April 2022. 

68



based services for rough sleepers 
and single homeless people. 

Local voluntary 
and community 
groups will be 
better engaged 
with, supported 
and enabled to 
take a greater role 
in improving the 
city and the lives of 
citizens. 

Launch a Thriving Community 
Strategy with the principles of 
community engagement, 
involvement and participation. 
This will take a place-based 
approach that maximises 
opportunities for greater 
collaboration with key 
stakeholders and community 
groups to deliver outcomes that 
matter to the Council and local 
people. 

 Work on the Thriving Communities Strategy is well 
underway. A framework is in place and engagement 
with key stakeholders has started with a schedule of 
meetings and focus groups planned for February 2022, 
with the strategy heading to Council in November 2022. 

Work with community 
associations across the city to 
enable them to become more 
inclusive and representative of 
the communities they serve from 
a governance perspective.  

 We have been having monthly meetings with 
Community Associations to work through various key 
priorities including diversity and inclusivity. 

Work closely with health partners 
to ensure the vaccination is 
accessible to and embraced by 
our most vulnerable residents.  

 The Head of Service has sat on the Vaccination Board 
as representative for all of the districts and we have 
supported this locally by ensuring we have made strong 
local linkages to key community groups, organisations 
such as asylum Welcome and Refugee resource and 
through our connections with faith groups. 

 A successful bid for Community Vaccination Champions 
funding is now underpinning a £480k programme of 
targeted activity across the city, working with system 

69



partners. This aims to increase take up among those 
groups that have been more vaccine hesitant. 

Launch a small grants receipts 
programme to encourage local 
community groups to apply for 
seed funding and get involved in 
shaping delivering locality-based 
projects. 

 This forms part of the revised Community Grants 
programme.  

Increasing 
numbers of people 
who walk and 
cycle around the 
city, benefitting 
their health and 
wellbeing. 

Maximise the community benefits 
from year two of the Women’s 
Tour of Britain in Oxfordshire. 

 We worked locally with schools and relevant stakeholder 
groups to maximise the benefits of this. Our shaping of 
the event ensured that the race went through Cowley 
Road into the heart of our diverse communities to 
maximise local interest and opportunities. 

Work with partners to make 
cycling more inclusive and 
accessible for children and young 
people through targeted 
recreational activities based on 
need. 

 We have supported the portfolio holder on the Active 
Travel in the City group. Targeted work has included 
walking buses. 

Work with partners/key 
stakeholders and secure funding 
to a) develop adaptable bikes or 
b) purchase adaptable bikes for 
children with disabilities.  

 This work is ongoing. 

 Use campaigns to change 
behaviour such as 
#MovewithMayorMark to increase 
levels of physical activity.  

 We have delivered a number of different campaigns and 
videos with the Move with Mayor Mark campaign these 
have received very strong traction through our media 
and social media outlets. 

Increase use of digital channels 
with up to date content on our 
activity hub. 

 This is ongoing https://www.oxford.gov.uk/activityhub 
 

70

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/activityhub


Our work with 
Thames Valley 
Police will keep 
communities safe 
and help reduce 
hate crime, human 
trafficking, modern 
slavery, domestic 
abuse, sexual 
violence, drug-
related crime and 
antisocial 
behaviour. 

Develop and implement a 
Business Intelligence framework 
to enable the Council and 
partners to understand better the 
issues that disproportionately 
impact on our communities, and 
ensure that our frontline services 
and policies are designed 
accordingly.  

 We have continued to work successfully with Thames 
Valley Police across the full range of community safety 
activities. Successful bids to the Safer Streets Fund 
have significantly increased CCTV quality and coverage 
in the city and is enabling partnership working on the 
Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) agenda. 
This is being bolstered by joint working in east Oxford 
where assaults have been identified as an issue and 
additional TVP resources have been allocated.  

 The PCC funded problem solving officer has worked 
with the drugs taskforce on the Clear, Hold, Build 
approach. Successful recruitment into the Human 
Exploitation Co-ordinators role has taken place and a 
launch of a report carried out by Elmore into modern 
slavery is planned.  

 A Business Intelligence Unit is being establish linking 
data analytical resource across all service areas. 

Vulnerable people 
will continue to be 
safeguarded 
against harm. 

Continue to support vulnerable 
people impacted from COVID-19 
and ensure their needs are met 
and people are signposted to 
opportunities and provision.   

 The Councils locality hubs, COVID Secure team and 
Single Point of Contact phone line have continued to 
provide immediate support for residents with needs 
during the pandemic. 

Implement recommendations of 
the Adult Safeguarding Board 
review into Rough Sleeper 
deaths. 

 Recommendations have been taken forward and make 
up a core parts of the new countywide rough sleeping 
strategy, with improved partnership working across the 
sector in Oxfordshire, and a new alliance approach to 
commissioning.  

Influence Oxford’s diversity 
will continue to be 
celebrated, with a 
greater sense of 
togetherness 

Launch an Equalities, Diversity 
and Inclusion (EDI) strategy that 
will increase trust and belonging 
between the Council and 
communities, predicated on 

 The EDI strategy has been drafted following very 
extensive engagement with many stakeholders through 
a series of focus groups. It is expected to go to Cabinet 
in March 2022. 

71



across its 
communities. 

inclusive values and reflecting the 
rich diversity in Oxford - and help 
us to build back fairer.  

Launch a Sense of Community 
Index to measure community 
cohesion and togetherness – 
securing a baseline measure for 
the city, which can then be 
tracked in subsequent years.  

 This proposal is being reviewed as part of the 
workstreams supporting delivery of the Thriving 
Communities Strategy. 

Collect and tell the stories of 
Oxford to reflect and represent its 
diverse communities, via means 
such as the Museum of Oxford.  

 We have showcased through various different outlets 
the below: 
- October for Black History Month – https://rb.gy/riwgyi  
- South Asian Herittage Month - https://rb.gy/gdx8qx  
- Windrush Day by flying the and a press notice to 

hightlight it - https://rb.gy/bwemaq  
- ‘Unlock the Chains’ discussion surrounding the fears, 

frustrations, fatigue and anger as yet another Black 
life is taken by the system that is there to protect - 
https://rb.gy/suhibj  

- Oxford Poetry Library and The Children’s Allotment 
are returning to Flo's Place in the Park with their 
Many Voices Collection, a collection of children's 
books featuring Black characters, written by Black 
writers, or which centre an anti-racist message - 
https://rb.gy/4kamrl  

- Vulunteers week – https://rb.gy/ojnmae 
https://rb.gy/l1um3r https://rb.gy/2fpnwd 

Subject to COVID-19 restrictions, 
support a calendar of diverse and 
inclusive events across the city.  

 The Council’s innovative creation of Broad Meadow 
through the summer of 2021 meant over 100,000 were 
able to use a large outdoor space which enabled 
numerous events to be safely held during the pandemic. 

72

https://rb.gy/riwgyi
https://rb.gy/gdx8qx
https://rb.gy/bwemaq
https://rb.gy/suhibj
https://rb.gy/4kamrl
https://rb.gy/ojnmae
https://rb.gy/l1um3r
https://rb.gy/2fpnwd


Develop insight and 
understanding within the Council 
regarding our approach to 
‘intersectionality’ - where there 
are overlapping systems of 
disadvantage and 
disproportionate impact  

 This was considered in the creation of the Council’s 
draft EDI Strategy. 

 The creation of the Business Intelligence Unit and the 
analysis of the multiple data streams that will flow from 
the 2021 Census will enable a clearer understanding of 
intersectionality issues to be developed. 

Develop community cohesion 
goals, which are shaped and 
planned by local communities 
themselves in localities.  

 This will be considered within the workstreams 
supporting development of the Thriving Communities 
Strategy 

Refresh the Anti-Racism Charter 
through ongoing dialogue and 
conversation with BAME 
communities and key 
stakeholders. Launch a refreshed 
Charter in October during Black 
History Month. 

 The Anti-Racism Charter was reviewed during October-
November 2021, with the involvement of various focus 
groups made up of different BAME communities. An 
action plan has been developed. 

Citizens will 
increase their 
active engagement 
in civic and 
political life. 

Work with schools and young 
people to develop an Oxford 
Youth Council that is 
representative of the young 
people of Oxford to encourage 
civic and democratic engagement 
and participation including 
supporting young people to 
understand and express their 
rights. 

 This work has had to be put on hold for COVID safety 
reasons and due to the significant resourcing challenges 
and workforce pressures faced by all schools in the city. 

Work with both universities and 
students' unions to boost 
electoral registration using joint 

 There has been close working with both Universities and 
their student union bodies throughout the pandemic both 
to ensure a collaborative approach on COVID 
management and to recruit many students into the 

73



social media campaigns where 
appropriate.  

support networks that have helped disadvantaged 
residents across the city. These established networks 
are being used to boost awareness around voter 
registration. 

Subject to the COVID-19 situation 
with elections and schools’ 
capacity - offer a range of 
activities and engagement to 
schools, including Why register? 
Why vote? Workshops, ‘How to 
run an election’ training and 
support for mock elections and 
referendums.  

 This work has had to be put on hold for COVID safety 
reasons. 

Embed the use of Oxford City 
Council’s new Residents Panel to 
improve engagement and 
influence decision making.  

 The Oxford Residents Panel continues to be an 
important sounding board for all Oxford City 
consultations. 

 
  

74



Pursue a Zero Carbon Oxford 
 

 Outcome Year 2 actions (21/22) Progress update  

Deliver Oxford City 
Council will 
have reduced 
the carbon 
footprint from its 
own operations 
to zero.  

Achieve base net Zero Carbon 
Council position through 
purchase of green gas for 
large sites and offsetting.   

 No. This action has been reversed with agreement from 
Cabinet. The funding has been used to create a “Net Zero 
Transition Fund” which will prioritise carbon reduction and 
insetting over offsetting and green gas. 

Implement the two 
Decarbonisation grant 
schemes to reduce total 
energy usage 
by 1500tCO2/Year.    

 The £14m combined Decarbonisation programme across 
Hinksey Outdoor Pool, Leys Pool and Leisure, Ferry Leisure 
Centre and Barton Leisure Centre is well advanced and on 
course for completion across these sites between March and 
June 2022. 

Pursue funding opportunities to 
fill the £30m investment 
needed to achieve the aim of 
Net Zero Carbon Council (with 
offsetting minimised) by 2030. 

 In addition to the £10.9m Public Sector Decarbonisation 
Scheme funding that is underpinning the works at our leisure 
centres, the Council has secured a further three rounds of 
funding to deliver heat decarb plans 

 A £4m investment in the Ray Valley Solar Farm is expected to 
be confirmed in the next month, which will further reduce the 
Council’s carbon footprint, as well as delivering a financial 
return. 

Reach 25% of fleet converted 
to electric power by 2023.  

 This remains on target as the electrification of the ODS fleet 
continues. 

 Oxford’s first electric dustcart is in operation across the city.  

75



Align the Council’s work on 
Scope 3 emissions with 
development of a wider, 
consistent approach, across 
the city, to tackling these 
Scope 3 emissions through the 
Zero Carbon Oxford 
Partnership (ZCOP).  

 This work is now being taken forwards within the ZCOP 
partnership, and so the timing will be determined by it. 

All new building 
by Oxford City 
Council will be 
significantly 
more energy 
efficient – 
moving towards 
near-zero or 
zero carbon 
standards.  

Revise the Asset Management 
Plan to align with Carbon 
Management Plan to achieve 
Net Zero Carbon Council by 
2030.  

 An updated Asset Management Strategy was agreed by 
Cabinet in December. It committed that decisions made in 
future around operational land and buildings will fully integrate 
carbon management goals and targets. This will require looking 
at carbon management in entirely new ways than previously. 

Implement higher 
environmental standards for 
residential and non-residential 
new builds set out in Oxford's 
Local Plan 2036. 

 Planning applications are now being assessed according to the 
stricter standards set out in RE1. 

76



We will have a 
significant 
programme of 
energy 
efficiency 
improvements 
across of our 
existing council 
housing. 

Commence programme of 
work to deliver target of 95% of 
our stock being EPC level C or 
above by 2028.   

 Good progress is being made to improve energy efficiency in 
the council stock, supported by significant investment from the 
City Council, backed by the commitment of £7m capital funding 
within the 4 year Medium Term Financial Plan period.  

 £382k was secured from the Government’s LAD1b scheme to 
improve 240 homes, which is currently funding work such as loft 
and cavity wall insulation, external wall insulation and air source 
heat pumps. 

 £1.4m has been bid under the Government’s Social Housing 
Decarbonisation Fund to support full retrofit of a further 125 
Council Houses. We are currently awaiting the outcome of the 
bid.  

Develop an investment 
plan with options for the 
retrofitting of energy efficiency 
measures or replacement of 
council housing, to reduce 
carbon emissions. 

 As above 

Engage Council tenants to 
maximise their involvement in 
decisions on retrofitting that 
affect their homes. 

 A retrofitting and decarbonisation communications and 
engagement campaign has been developed for council tenants, 
launching later in the year. 

 A bid for UK100 funding has been submitted to support public 
engagement on retrofitting. 

Pilot EWI (external wall 
insulation) retrofit and 
ground/air source heat pumps 
in council stock.  

 This is part of LAD1b scheme, as above. 

77



Partner All new building 
by developers in 
Oxford will be 
significantly 
more energy 
efficient – 
moving towards 
near-zero or 
zero carbon 
standards, with 
some examples 
of carbon-
positive 
development.  

 All new house building 
commissioned this year and 
onwards by OCHL will meet 
building standards of a 
minimum of 70% more energy 
efficient than the existing 
Building Regulations. 

 Following the Council’s Declaration of a Climate Emergency 
and as part of a gradual move towards zero carbon, the 
following targets and requirements have been implemented by 
OCHL: 
- All homes to be electrically heated, reducing carbon 

emissions naturally as the electric grid decarbonises; 
- A new carbon reduction target has been set of 70% below 

2013 Building Regulations – sites include Almonds Farm, 
Northfield hostel, Lanham Way; 

- Wherever feasible, the demanding Passive House is being 
considered – e.g.. Meadow Lane, Iffley; 

- Key to a future move to zero carbon is OCHL's new OSM 
Sustainable Framework, which will give superstructure 
costs for comparison by Board/ decision makers and will be 
in place by December 2021;   

- The three standards within the Framework are: 40% carbon 
reduction from future 2021 Building Regulations (around 
70% from current), Passive House and then the highest, 
Zero Carbon for operational energy (regulated and 
unregulated). 

Complete pilot Net Zero 
Homes 

 8 net zero carbon bungalows have been completed. 

We will be 
promoting and 
enforcing the 
higher energy 
efficiency 

Work with OxLEP and partners 
to foster a strong local supply 
chain to support these 
ambitions. 

 The Council was successful in its consortium bid for LAD3 
funding, having been awarded c.£1.9m for private sector 
householders with annual income of less than £30k and EPC of 
D or lower.   

 

78



standards that 
will have been 
set nationally by 
the Government 
for residential 
and commercial 
landlords.  

Increase the number of 
enforcement actions taken 
under the Minimum Energy 
Efficiency Standards (MEES) 
regulations in privately rented 
properties.  

 COVID restrictions have impacted the ability of officers to 
undertake inspections but the restart of the HMO Licensing 
Scheme in June resulted in a renewal of focus on compliance 
with EPC requirements with over 600 new licences being 
issued.  

 A protocol for issuing civil penalties under MEES has been 
developed and the focus on identifying and pursuing F and G 
rated properties has continued.  

Oxford will have 
taken a leading 
role in the 
adoption of 
electric vehicles 
(EVs). 

Deliver the 
Energy Superhub Oxford 
(ESO) and the EV rapid 
charger at Redbridge.   

 EV Hub is under construction, with a slight delay due to 
complexity of the project and legal contracting. Construction 
should be completed by May ’22. 

Develop an EV 
Charging Strategy for the city 
with a view to establishing a 
target that meets current and 
anticipated demand.  

 The Oxford EV Strategy and Implementation Plan is in 
development, with stakeholder engagement ongoing and the 
draft document expected to be ready in spring 2022. 

Complete the current 
programmes of charging point 
installation for taxis and on 
street private cars.  

 The Taxi charge point roll out (T-GULO) is on course for 
completion in 21-22. However rollout of the remainder of the 
current on-street residential charger programme (O-GULO) has 
been paused until 2022-23 to enable its implementation to be 
guided by the EV Strategy. 

The Council will support the 
County Council in the 
deployment of a high quality, 
open, value for money, and 
instant access EV charging 
network for Oxfordshire. 

 Oxford City Council supported the creation of the countywide 
EV Strategy. The Oxford EV Strategy and Implementation Plan 
will set out more detailed options for delivery of new EV 
infrastructure within the city.  

Air quality 
throughout the 
city will have 
improved. 

Working with Oxfordshire 
County Council, 
implement the planned Zero 

 The ZEZ pilot launched on 28 February 2022. 

79



Emission Zone Pilot in 
Oxford’s city centre.  

 Implement and deliver the 
statutory Air Quality Action 
Plan.  

 City centre air quality has improved as a result of lower traffic 
levels during the pandemic. 

 Delivery of Air Quality improvement projects including Clean 
Bus Technology Funding to finalise delivery of cleaner buses, 
and Air Quality Defra grant funding to:  
- assist Covered Market business in preparing for ZEZ (A new 

Covered Market electric cargo bike trial which is operating 
until June 2022 – involving partnership work with Pedal & 
Post) 

- deliver a citywide wood burning campaign, to launch in 
February 2022 

- develop a new air quality website for Oxfordshire, in 
partnership with County and the other District Councils 

Our streets, 
neighbourhoods 
and open 
spaces will be 
greener with 
more trees and 
other plants, 
and increased 
biodiversity. 

Take a lead role in the 
establishment of a Local 
Nature Partnership for 
Oxfordshire.  

 The Oxfordshire Local Nature Partnership is formed and will 
establish the nature recovery network. 

Explore policy development 
that adopts a Natural Resource 
Management approach.   

 There has not been capacity to take this forward in the current 
year, however the recruitment of a new fulltime Biodiversity 
Officer at the end of 2021 should enable this work to be 
developed over the next year.  

Develop an Urban Tree 
Strategy.  

 The Urban Forest Strategy was developed and adopted by 
Cabinet in September 2021. 

Implement two more mini 
forests across the city.  

 Two ‘Tiny Forests’ were planted – one off Foxwell Drive in 
Headington and the other on Meadow Lane Nature Reserve. 

80



The city will 
become more 
resilient to 
climate change 
including 
improved flood 
defences. 

Continue to support the 
Environment Agency’s delivery 
of the Oxford Flood Alleviation 
Scheme (OFAS).  

 The Council continues to support the Environment Agency’s 
development of OFAS, with work ongoing to transfer parcels of 
Council land for this purpose. 

Influence We will 
campaign for 
the Government 
to introduce 
more rigorous 
energy 
efficiency 
standards on 
new build and 
bring forward 
the end of petrol 
and diesel 
vehicle sales. 

Develop with the Steering 
Group of the Zero Carbon 
Oxford Partnership (ZCOP) an 
action plan and Sprint Groups 
to support delivery. 

 ZCOP wrote to government during COP 26 which called for the 
following:  

- Long term and reliable funding for energy efficiency building 
on learnings from the Green Homes Grant and the Public 
Sector Decarbonisation Scheme. 

- Rapid investment in public and active transport to support 
Oxford achieve a 25% reduction in road transport by 2030 
and embed positive behaviour changes seen during the 
pandemic. 

- Coordinated market mechanisms for local flexibility and 
network reinforcement to allow significant electrification of 
heat and transport, learning from innovative projects such as 
Local Energy Oxfordshire. 

 The focus of future lobbying will be developed with the ZCOP 
Steering Group and guided by the ZCOP roadmap. 

81



Citizens, 
businesses and 
other 
organisations in 
the city will be 
taking action to 
reduce carbon 
emissions and 
increase 
biodiversity. 

Develop a campaign narrative 
within the Zero Carbon Oxford 
Partnership to take to the 
Government’s COP 26 
meeting in Glasgow.   

 The Council’s Zero Carbon Communities campaign launched to 
coincide with COP26. 

Start the development of a 
Zero Carbon Communities 
Strategy with a particular focus 
on reaching and mobilising 
marginalised communities 
through an environmental 
action grants programme that 
meets our climate aims and 
creates belonging to place and 
people. 

 A Zero Carbon Communities approach is being built into the 
new Thriving Communities Strategy. 

 
 

82



Oxford City Council
Our Strategy 2020-24

83

FreeText
Appendix 3



OxfOrd City COunCil

B

Leader’s Foreword
In 2019 when we started the process of 
renewing our four year Council Strategy, 
no one would have imagined the world 
that was to come, and the impact the 
COVID-19 pandemic would have on 
our wonderful city and the people that 
live and work here. Publication of our 
Strategy, which had followed a deep 
process of consultation, was delayed. 
However, following a review we were 
satisfied our strategic ambitions still hold 
even in this new normal.  

Our Strategy is the result of a huge 
amount of work including a fantastic 
public and stakeholder response to the 
consultation, and we believe reflects 
the focus, dedication and ambition of 
the Council both now and in the future. 
It represents the next steps along the 
journey towards our 2050 Vision for 
Oxford.

We are unashamedly ambitious for our 
city which is already a beacon in many 
aspects nationally and internationally, 
but which we want to be truly world 
class for the benefit of all citizens. Our 
Strategy reflects that ambition – to 
enable a more inclusive economy in 
which everyone shares the benefits of 
growth; to overcome our housing crisis; 
to support our communities in a way that 
reduces the inequalities we see across the 
city; and to take a lead in cutting carbon 
emissions while ensuring this does not 
impact citizens’ living standards. 

We can’t deliver these outcomes alone. 
And so our Strategy sets out where we 
task ourselves to deliver, where we will 
work in partnership with others, and 
where as a voice for Oxford we will use 
our influence to help achieve these aims. 

Looking back on the last Corporate Plan 
2016-2020 we made really good progress. 
We launched two wholly-owned companies 

Oxford Direct Services (ODS) and Oxford 
City Housing Ltd (OCHL) to deliver 
services and housing. This strengthened 
our ‘Oxford Model’ in which the Council 
seeks to in-source work and retain the 
associated earnings to help pay for the 
services it provides. We helped secure the 
Oxfordshire Growth Deal that is bringing 
over £500 million of investment in housing 
and infrastructure across the county. We 
put in place a new Local Plan to guide and 
shape new developments in Oxford, so that 
they respect our past and present while 
improving our future through the delivery 
of much needed affordable housing and 
higher environmental standards. We 
delivered new council housing at Barton 
Park, two new temporary accommodation 
facilities for homeless people, and the 
refurbishment of all five of the city’s 
tower blocks. We settled 30 Syrian refugee 
families under a Government scheme – 
more than any other local authority in the 
South East. We built the new Horspath 
Sports Park in partnership with Oxford 
United and enabled the new Westgate 
centre that created 3,400 jobs. And we were 
the first city in the UK to hold a Citizens’ 
Assembly on Climate Change which is now 
shaping how we are working with others to 
cut Oxford’s emissions to net zero. 

Looking forward we clearly have some 
significant challenges to overcome. 
Oxford, partly due to its economic 
reliance on tourists and students has 
been particularly hit by the pandemic. 
Unemployment has risen, retail businesses 
are struggling and we are very concerned 
about the educational attainment of those 
children who were already struggling 
to meet national standards prior to 
COVID-19. But equally I am proud of the 
response to the pandemic by Council staff, 
our partners, and the people of Oxford. 
Together, we have helped protect and 
meet the needs of the most vulnerable 
during the crisis. And together, I am 
confident we can build a better Oxford.
84



Our Strategy 2020-24

1

Content

Leader’s Foreword

Content . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

Key statistics and trends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2-5

Our vision. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

Our priorities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6

How we work – a “customer-first” approach . . . . . . . . . 7

Priorities and outcomes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7

Priority: Enable an inclusive economy . . . . . . . . . . . . . .8-9

Priority: Deliver more, affordable housing . . . . . . . .10-11

Priority: Support thriving communities  . . . . . . . . . .12-13

Priority: Pursue a zero carbon Oxford  . . . . . . . . . . .14-15

Our organisation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16

Our values . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16

The external context for our strategy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17

How we’ll use this strategy  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17

This Council Strategy is complemented by an annual 
business plan that sets out the key priorities and actions 
Oxford City Council will undertake in each of the next 
four years. This strengthens the prioritisation of key areas 
of work and support collaboration among officers and 
with external partners. The first Business Plan covering the 
period 2020-21 was published in September 2020.

85



OxfOrd City COunCil

2

Key statistics and trends
The following data reflects key underlying trends under each of the Council’s four 
priority areas, some of which may have been significantly impacted by the COVID-19 
pandemic in the short - and potentially longer - term.

population

154,300

Population 
Oxford’s population is 
154,300. Between 2001 
and 2011 it rose by 11% 
(15,000 residents). By 2021 
it is forecast to increase by 
another 15,000.

8

£780m

million
visitors

tourist income

below average
attainment 8 

score of

The hospitals, theatres and museums of Oxford aren’t 
just used by residents of the city. These public access 

facilities have a far greater reach, serving much of the 
county and beyond.

9 126
threatres museumshospitals

Oxford is the tourism 
gateway to the 

rest of Oxfordshire. 
Approximately 8 million 
visitors arrive per year, 

generating £780 million 
of income for local 
Oxford businesses. 

In terms of overseas 
visitors to the UK, 

Oxford is the eighth 
most visited city for 

staying visits.

42,000
student

population

There are 42,000 
students in Oxford and 
with a median age of 29 
years we are one of the 
UK’s youngest cities.

Latest figures show the average 
attainment 8 (equivalent to GCSE 
level) score per pupil in Oxford is 45.9 
which is below the national and 
Oxfordshire averages of 46.9 
and 47.7 respectively.

11 areas in Oxford are in 
the most deprived decile nationally 
for educational attainment among 
children and young people.

45.9
86



Our Strategy 2020-24

3

Enable an Inclusive Economy

£6.75

122,300
jobs

billion: 2018 
economic contribution

2013

This map of Oxfordshire 
shows the location 
of usual residence of 
people who travelled to 
work in Oxford. 

Around 70% 
of people whose 
workplace was in 
Oxford lived in the 
areas coloured in blue, 
mauve, pink, or orange.

Usual residence of people who 
travelled to work in Oxford

+
14%

In 2018 Oxford contributed 6.75bn to the economy. There 
are 122,300 jobs in the city, 14% more than in 2013, a 
growth rate stronger than the national level of 10%. 

46,000 people commute into Oxford 
for work. About a quarter travels into the city by foot, 
bicycle or public transport. Those commuting within 
the city are even more likely to use these modes of 
transport with two thirds doing so.

Oxford is home 
to around 6,000 
businesses. This 
has grown by 
12% since 2014, slightly 
lower than the national 
average of 18%.

In the first half of 
2019, there were 
65 days – half of all 
weekdays - when 
speeds on at least one 
major road into Oxford 

fell to under 5mph during 
the morning rush hour. 
Bus speeds in the centre 
of Oxford are 38% slower 
than in 2006.

Key job sectors 
in Oxford 
Education, health, 
public admin, 
technology, 
hospitality, leisure 
& recreation and 
manufacturing.

According to the Gini 
Coefficient, Oxford is 
the second least equal 
city in the UK for income 
equality. 

mph
5

6,000 
businesses 

2014

+
12%

87



OxfOrd City COunCil

4

Nearly a fifth of children 
in Oxford are estimated to 
be living in poverty after 
housing costs. This rises to 
over a third in some of the 
city’s most deprived wards.

Deliver more affordable housing

40%

X
17%

SALARY

SALARYRENT=

1/3
private 

landlords

57,000
dwellings in Oxford

28,000
needed in 

next 15 years

7,800

Average house prices are 
17 times average salary 
making Oxford the least 
affordable city in the UK.

A third of properties in Oxford are private rentals compared to 20% nationally. 
On average over 40% of monthly salaries are spent on rent.

There are over 57,000 
dwellings in Oxford. Over the 
next 15 years 28,000 more 
homes are needed with 11,000 
of these being built in the city.

The City Council has social 
housing stock of 7,800 
properties, which is set 
to increase by more than 
1,100 over the next 10 
years. There are currently 
2,340 households on our 
housing register.

Support Thriving Communities

social
housing

Oxford is one of the UK’s most diverse cities. 22% of 
Oxford residents are from a black or minority ethnic 
group and 14% are from a white but non-British 
background. 33% were born outside the UK.

22% 
black or minority 

14% 
white non-British 

 33% 
born outside UK

Life expectancy in Oxford is above average at 80 years 
for men and 85 years for women, however this can vary 
by up to 10 years for women and 16 for men depending 
on where in the city you live. 

80
years 
old 

20%

85
years 
old 

children in poverty

88



Our Strategy 2020-24

5

45%

52%

Oxford’s urban forest 
contains around 248,200 
trees which is nearly two 
trees per person, double 
the ratio for London. 
They filter an estimated 
65 tonnes of airborne 
pollutants and remove 
2,500 tonnes of carbon 
from the atmosphere 
every year.  

Adults in Oxford are more 
physically active (73% vs 
63%) than the national 
average and are more 
likely to have walked or 
cycled somewhere in the 
last week (84% vs 72%).

Between 2005 and 2017 
overall carbon emissions 
in Oxford city fell by 35%.
The City Council accounts 
for 1% of the city’s total 
carbon emissions and this 
has been reduced by 40% 
in the last four years.

In November 2019 street 
count 43 people were 
rough sleeping. This 
represents a 16% percent 
decrease from the 51 
counted during the street 
count in September and 
a 4% decrease from the 
45 people counted in 
November 2018

4%
less than 

2018

35%
carbon

65
tonnes of 
pollutants

73%

29%
NO

2
 

physically active

Pursue a zero Carbon Oxford

Oxford has seen a 
significant reduction in air 
pollution levels over recent 
years with a fall of 29% in 
levels of toxic NO2 between 
2014 and 2018. Latest levels 
are at 46 μg/m³ annual 
mean average, taking us 
nearer to the Government’s 
target of below 40 μg/m3.

248,200
        trees

2 trees
per person

Over the last four years 
residents in Oxford have 
reduced their average 
residual waste per 
household from 430kg to 
340kg. 

Over the same period 
rates of reuse, recycling or 
composting of household 
waste have increased from 
45% to 52%.

340kg

430kg

 
89



OxfOrd City COunCil

6

Our vision
Building a world-class city for everyone 

By creating successful places in which to live and work, supporting our communities 
and addressing the climate emergency, we will build a fairer, greener city in which 
everyone can thrive.

Our priorities
We have set four key priorities over the next four years – all of equal importance: 

The four priorities are all interconnected, and we will work to achieve them in a 
joined-up way.

Enable an 
inclusive 
economy

Deliver more affordable housing

Support 
thriving 
communities

Pursue a zero carbon Oxford

economy

housing

zero carbon

community

vision

£
economy

housing

zero carbon

community

vision

£

economy

housing

zero carbon

community

vision

£
economy

housing

zero carbon

community

vision

£

90



Our Strategy 2020-24

7

How we work – a “customer-first” approach
We work innovatively and efficiently – we are a flexible and customer-focused team 
offering high quality services that meet people’s needs.

We work to tackle inequality – our employment practices and the way in which we 
deliver our services aim to provide equality of opportunity and access for all. Our 
investments and policy-making are all designed to address the social and financial 
inequalities across Oxford. We value diversity and seek to build a greater sense of 
togetherness across the city’s communities. We want to ensure all of Oxford’s citizens, 
including those who are harder to reach, have fair opportunities and a real share in 
the city’s future. 

We work in partnership with others – we work with other councils, businesses, 
communities, the voluntary sector, Oxford’s universities, the Government and 
other public sector bodies to ensure the way we shape our services and direct our 
investments is joined-up with others. 

We use our commercial assets for the benefit of local people – our wholly-owned 
companies and the commercial properties we own create jobs, support the local 
economy and provide additional funds that support our delivery of public services. We 
call this the Oxford Model. 

We are a campaigning organisation – we work actively to engage with residents, 
businesses, stakeholders and Government and use our influence to help achieve the 
aims set out in this Strategy.

Priorities and outcomes
For each of our four priorities, we have set out the outcomes we would like to see 
achieved over the next four years, and some of the headline actions we believe will be 
required to help deliver this.

To support the delivery of the strategy, we produce an annual Business Plan that sets 
out specific actions and milestones for the year ahead and reports on progress against 
agreed key performance indicators.

91



OxfOrd City COunCil

8

economy

housing

zero carbon

community

vision

£

We will deliver ourselves 

1. Our Council-owned companies will have increased their profits to help maintain 
the services we provide and we will have supported more local businesses, 
including social enterprises and cooperatives, by changing the way we buy our 
goods and services 

2. Our staff will be more skilled and confident in delivering services our citizens 
want and our workforce will better reflect Oxford’s diverse population   

We will partner with others to help achieve

3. Oxford’s economy will be stronger, with diverse sectors providing a wider range 
of accessible business and employment opportunities for all 

4. We will have secured different types of new workspace in the city to support 
business and employment growth 

5. The movement of people and goods into and within the city will have improved, 
resulting in less traffic congestion, better air quality and faster journey times

6. The city centre will be relevant to more of our citizens with more accessible 
public space. The impacts of tourism will be better managed and more of its 
economic benefits retained locally 

7. The city centre will be expanding to the west. Attractive new areas will be 
emerging around Oxford station, in Oxpens and Osney Mead, but not at the 
expense of the health and vibrancy of the existing city centre 

We will use our influence to seek to achieve

8. More organisations in Oxford will be socially and environmentally responsible 
- paying the Oxford Living Wage and adopting practices that deliver clean 
economic growth which benefits all residents 

9. Oxford will have improved the workforce skills it needs through higher 
educational attainment and more training for the jobs of the future 

Priority: Enable an inclusive economy
Oxford needs a more inclusive economy in which wealth is distributed across our 
communities and where all citizens can share the benefits of growth.

Over the next four years we want to see the following outcomes achieved as part of a 
more inclusive economy:

92



Our Strategy 2020-24

9

To support these outcomes we will take the following actions:

• Implement the Oxford City Council 
Workforce Equalities Action Plan to 
boost employee diversity through 
recruitment and apprenticeships and 
expand the management opportunities 
for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
(BAME) staff and women. 

• Strengthen the Oxford Model under 
which Oxford City Council uses 
insourcing – rather than outsourcing 
to private businesses – to generate 
income. 

• Use Oxford City Council, Oxford Direct 
Services Ltd (ODS) and Oxford City 
Housing Ltd (OCHL) purchasing power 
to increase the reinvestment of money 
into the local economy by placing an 
increased emphasis on social value, 
alongside quality and cost measures. 

• Establish a new Asset Management 
Strategy to guide the diversification of 
our commercial property investment 
portfolio, prioritise investment and 
management of Oxford City Council’s 
non-housing assets, and how we could 
use our properties to help generate 
wealth locally and support existing and 
new small businesses, social enterprises 
and cooperatives.

• Implement a new inclusive Economic 
Strategy to tackle inequality and increase 
the opportunities for disadvantaged 
groups to have a fair share in the city’s 
economy and reduce its impact on the 
environment; while also setting out a 
plan for delivering the types of different 
employment space needed to support a 
more diverse economy.

• Build closer partnerships with the 
universities to boost productivity in the 
city’s economy and extend economic 

opportunities to a wider range of 
Oxford’s citizens.

• Work with Oxfordshire County Council 
to implement Connecting Oxford and 
improve bus and cycle routes into and 
around the city, better connecting key 
employment sites. 

• Attract investment to build a new 
Oxford Station and expand its capacity 
to provide greater connectivity 
nationally and locally, including 
securing commitment to the opening of 
the Cowley Branch line to passengers. 

• Create more accessible public space in 
the city centre for people to enjoy and 
reprioritise road space for pedestrians, 
cyclists and buses. 

• Implement a city centre strategy to 
support independent retailers, enhance 
the Covered Market, widen the cultural 
offer, support more temporary uses of 
empty properties, encourage longer 
stays by tourists and reduce the impact 
of coaches and overcrowded streets in 
the heart of the city.

• Work with partners to create a new 
mixed housing and commercial quarter 
in the city centre’s west end, alongside 
infrastructure improvements to create 
more sustainable transport and 
movement routes in the area. 

• Encourage investment in new skills 
and apprenticeships across the local 
economy to tackle inequality and 
manage the technology challenge to 
existing jobs. 

• Promote the Oxford Living Wage 
among Oxford employers including the 
universities and colleges and seek to 
double the number that adopt it. 

93



OxfOrd City COunCil

10

economy

housing

zero carbon

community

vision

£

We will deliver ourselves 

1. We will have increased the supply of high quality, energy efficient, accessible 
and affordable housing, including new council housing as well as other types of 
homes to rent and for sale at different prices 

2. In regeneration projects such as Blackbird Leys, our new housing will be high 
quality with improved public spaces and served by good public transport, and 
cycling and walking routes

3. More Council and private sector tenants will have been supported to stay in 
their homes when they face the prospect of eviction

We will partner with others to help achieve

4. More developers, housing associations and others will view Oxford as a good 
place to build a range of different housing types 

5. Working with neighbouring authorities we will be implementing the agreed 
countywide approach to meeting housing needs

6. Working with housing associations we will have delivered more move on 
accommodation for people housed in supported accommodation

7. Working with landlords we will have improved the quality and energy efficiency 
of privately-rented homes in Oxford

We will use our influence to seek to achieve

8. New housing including new urban extensions will be being built to create 
strong communities with good local amenities and sustainable transport links 
into the city. Sites valued by local people for leisure and recreation will be 
protected.

Priority: Deliver more, affordable housing 
Intervention is needed to address Oxford’s housing crisis where existing homes 
are unaffordable for many and demand for good quality homes outstrips what is 
available.  

Over the next four years we want to see the following outcomes achieved to deliver 
more genuinely affordable housing in Oxford:

94



Our Strategy 2020-24

11

To support these outcomes we will take the following actions:

• Accelerate our housebuilding 
programme using OCHL and ODS to 
deliver new affordable homes at speed 
and scale with a range of tenures 
including new council housing, shared 
ownership and a below-market level 
Oxford Living Rent.

• Offer enhanced planning support 
to developers, social landlords and 
community-led housing groups to 
encourage a faster rate of delivery 
of new homes, including use of 
factory-built housing and modular 
construction.  

• Ensure all new homes are built to high 
standards, including accessible design 
and high levels of energy efficiency 
consistent with Oxford’s journey 
towards net zero carbon emissions. 

• Take a preventative approach to 
homelessness, working with landlords 
and tenants to reduce evictions. 

• Implement a selective licencing scheme 
to improve standards in private sector 
housing.

• Work with neighbouring councils to 
address housing need across Oxford’s 
functional economic area to house 
people close to where they work and 
in places that enhance a sense of 
community and wellbeing. 

95



OxfOrd City COunCil

12

economy

housing

zero carbon

community

vision

£

We will deliver ourselves 

1. Our services, grants, community and leisure facilities, parks and cultural events 
will have helped reduce inequality, increase cohesion and improve health and 
wellbeing across Oxford’s communities

2. Children and young people’s resilience and confidence will have increased 
through the educational and recreational activities we offer

3. As a good landlord, we will have worked with our Council tenants and residents 
to strengthen local communities; and worked with other major landlords to 
improve the services they provide

4. Our parks and public spaces will remain clean, safe, and well maintained, and 
will be accessible to more people to enjoy the health and wellbeing benefits 
they provide

We will partner with others to help achieve

5. Working with neighbouring councils and partners, we will prevent homelessness, 
move people in temporary accommodation more rapidly into secure housing, and 
ensure that no one has to sleep rough on the streets of Oxford 

6. Local voluntary and community groups will be better engaged with, supported 
and enabled to take a greater role in improving the city and the lives of citizens

7. Increasing numbers of people will walk and cycle around the city, benefitting 
their health and wellbeing 

8. Our work with Thames Valley Police will keep communities safe and help reduce 
hate crime, human trafficking, drugs-related crime and antisocial behaviour 

9. Vulnerable people will continue to be safeguarded against harm

We will use our influence to seek to achieve

10. Oxford’s diversity will continue to be celebrated, with a greater sense of 
togetherness across its communities 

11. Citizens will increase their active engagement in civic and political life

Priority: Support thriving communities 
Oxford’s diverse communities should be equipped, supported and enabled to tackle 
inequality and ensure everyone is able to play a full part in the life of our city.

Over the next four years we would like to see the following outcomes achieved to 
support thriving communities across Oxford:

96



Our Strategy 2020-24

13

To support these outcomes we will take the following actions:

• Create an integrated locality-based 
delivery model for community and 
housing services with multi-skilled 
teams, embedding learnings obtained 
from the COVID-19 response hubs. 

• Implement an Equalities Action 
Plan that shapes our services and 
use of our community assets to 
address inequalities particularly for 
disadvantaged, hard-to-reach and 
excluded groups.

• Develop data sources to better 
understand the strengths and needs of 
our diverse communities and to target 
our work to where the gaps are.

• Work with our tenants and other 
citizens to understand their needs, 
simplify the way they can engage with 
us and involve them more in design and 
decision-making in regard to Council 
services and facilities in their local 
communities. 

• Modernise our community assets and 
explore innovative approaches for 
their operation which encourages 
engagement and a sense of community 
ownership. 

• Deliver a Thriving Communities 
Strategy that sets ambitions and 
actions to reduce isolation and support 
community involvement, health and 
wellbeing through active lifestyles, 
volunteering, cultural engagement, and 
use of our parks and community assets. 

• Join up our service delivery at a local 
level, improve our landlord services for 
Council tenants and strengthen our 
relationships with housing associations 
to improve the service they provide to 
their tenants.

• Work with health partners to reduce 
health inequalities, particularly across 
disadvantaged communities.

• Work with neighbouring councils and 
partners in the city to deliver a cross-
county approach to early intervention 
on rough sleeping and providing 
wraparound to support people moving 
from rough sleeping to safe and stable 
living arrangements. 

• Develop a “One Council” approach to 
tackling homelessness.

• Work with Thames Valley Police, other 
partners and communities to tackle 
the visible drugs market, challenge 
racism, Antisemitism and Islamophobia, 
human trafficking and serious antisocial 
behaviour.  

• Use our grants programme and 
partnership working to enable local 
voluntary and community groups to 
help create resilient communities, 
improve outcomes for citizens 
and reduce inequalities across our 
communities. 

• Celebrate diversity by supporting and 
stimulating a wide variety of events 
and cultural activities that bring Oxford 
people together. 

97



OxfOrd City COunCil

14

economy

housing

zero carbon

community

vision

£

We will deliver ourselves 

1. Oxford City Council will have reduced the carbon footprint from its own 
operations to zero 

2. All new building by Oxford City Council will be significantly more energy 
efficient – moving towards near-zero or zero carbon standards 

3. We will have a significant programme of energy efficiency improvements across 
our existing council housing 

We will partner with others to help achieve

4. All new building by developers in Oxford will be significantly more energy 
efficient – moving towards near-zero or zero carbon standards, with some 
examples of carbon-positive development 

5. We will be promoting and enforcing the higher energy efficiency standards that 
will have been set nationally by the Government for residential and commercial 
landlords 

6. Oxford will have taken a leading role in the adoption of electric vehicles 

7. Air quality throughout the city will have improved 

8. Our streets, neighbourhoods and open spaces will be greener with more trees 
and other plants, and increased biodiversity

9. The city will become more resilient to climate change including improved flood 
defences

We will use our influence to seek to achieve

10. We will campaign for the Government to introduce more rigorous energy 
efficiency standards on new build and bring forward the end of petrol and 
diesel vehicle sales 

11. Citizens, businesses and other organisations in the city will be taking action to 
reduce carbon emissions and waste, and increase biodiversity and recycling

Priority: Pursue a zero carbon Oxford 
In 2019 Oxford City Council declared a Climate Emergency and held the Oxford 
Citizens’ Assembly on Climate Change. The clear message from citizens was that 
they want the city to continue to take a lead in reducing emissions and increasing 
biodiversity, while ensuring this does not impact citizens’ living standards.   

Over the next four years we would like to see the following outcomes achieved as we 
pursue a zero carbon Oxford:

98



Our Strategy 2020-24

15

To support these outcomes we will take the following actions:

• Reduce Oxford City Council’s carbon 
footprint from our own activities to 
zero where we pay the bill – including 
our buildings and fleet. 

• Develop and implement an action plan 
in response to the recommendations 
of the Oxford Citizens Assembly on 
Climate Change. 

• Work with tenants to agree and 
implement a programme of retrofitting 
our council housing to significantly 
reduce emissions. 

• Work in partnership across the county 
to coordinate our response to the 
climate emergency. 

• Use our influence with government, 
partners, businesses and citizens to 
lobby, inform, convene, educate and 
campaign to help respond to the 
climate emergency.

• Engage all commercial and residential 
landlords to level up energy efficiency 
standards towards B rating, with 
information provided and enforcement 
action where necessary. 

• Create a citywide network of electric 
vehicle charging points to encourage 
the take-up of electric vehicles.

• Implement a Zero Emissions Zone 
- initially in the city centre and 
eventually citywide - to improve air 
quality and encourage further take up 
of ultralow emission vehicles. 

• Encourage and enable further 
innovation and investment in green 
technology in Oxford, moving from 
pilot to full deployment wherever 
possible. 

• Use our planning system to ensure the 
natural environment is enhanced and 
carbon emissions are reduced through 
all new development.

• Work in partnership with others to 
increase the city’s resilience to climate 
change, particularly flooding.

• Encourage and enable public access 
to nature and support a significant 
programme to increase biodiversity and 
tree-planting.

• Reduce amount of waste we collect and 
increase the proportion we recycle. 

• Review our People Strategy, ways of 
working and use of technology to 
reduce Oxford City Council employees’ 
overall travel to work impact on the 
environment.

99



OxfOrd City COunCil

16

Our values
How we do things is as important as what 
we do. Our values reflect the important 
shared attitudes, beliefs, and behaviours 
that everyone working at Oxford City 
Council is expected to demonstrate to 
our colleagues, stakeholders, customers, 
partners and volunteers. 

One Team - We work 
together as one team with 
the shared aim of achieving 
effective strategic outcomes 
and organisational success

Inclusion & Respect - 
We communicate with 
transparency and respect, 
creating a working 
environment that is based on 
trust, honesty, and integrity.  
We celebrate being diverse, 
where there are no barriers 
to inclusion and where 
we view the differences 
between people as a source 
of strength

Service Excellence - We 
keep our promises and 
deliver an agreed standard 
of work to all; always 
learning, and striving for 
excellence

Stepping Up - We step up, 
drive it, and deliver it, we 
collaborate, communicate 
and we’re accountable.  We 
do what we say we’ll do

Amazing Outcomes - We 
can adapt ideas and new 
ways of working to bring 
innovation and continuous 
improvement to our business

 

Our organisation
To achieve our aims, we need to be 
responsible, reliable, adaptable and 
innovative as an organisation. We need 
to think and act strategically and at pace, 
actively engaging citizens in helping us 
make the decisions that impact them. 
We need a diverse workforce that is 
representative of Oxford and offers 
opportunities to under-represented 
or disadvantaged groups. We need a 
supportive and motivating environment 
that brings out the best in our people. 
We need the right structures in place 
including wholly-owned businesses, joint 
ventures and partnerships to maximise 
the resources we can bring to bear. We 
need strong governance, robust processes 
and efficient systems to ensure our 
people are equipped and empowered to 
deliver their best for Oxford. 

100



Our Strategy 2020-24

17

The external context 
for our strategy
Like all organisations we need to 
be prepared for, and responsive to 
developing trends, new challenges and 
change that emerge at a local, regional, 
national and global level. These include 
both threats and opportunities for 
Oxford. Over the next four years we 
expect this to include:

• The need to address the economic 
impacts and poverty related issues in 
Oxford as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic

• The need to significantly accelerate 
actions to combat climate change while 
managing increased risks of flooding

• Managing and mitigating the impacts 
of Brexit on Oxford’s citizens and 
businesses

• Responding as necessary to the agenda 
set out by the UK Government

• Opportunities to apply innovations in 
technology and big data to improve 
the productivity of public services, 
alongside the task of managing the 
disruption to jobs that is likely to 
accompany this

• Harnessing the Oxford-Cambridge 
Arc growth opportunity to ensure we 
deliver inclusive and clean growth for 
Oxfordshire

• The high cost of housing in Oxford 
putting ownership out of the reach 
of many, and insecure tenancies 
preventing families setting down roots  

• Rising levels of obesity and an ageing 
population that puts increasing 
pressure on many public services

• The increasing impact of cybercrime

• Engaging proactively with equality, 
diversity and inclusion issues 
highlighted by the Black Lives Matter 
movement

 
How we’ll use this 
strategy 
This strategy is designed to be used as 
a framework to guide our thinking and 
decision-making and resource allocation, 
and help ensure that everything we do 
takes us closer to achieving our vision. It 
succeeds Oxford City Council’s Corporate 
Plan 2016-20 and updates our objectives, 
while maintaining the same overarching 
aims to achieve sustainable systematic 
change for Oxford. 

The strategy is underpinned by the 
Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2020-
2024 that sets out our financial priorities 
and commitments over the next four 
years. To support the delivery of the 
strategy, we will produce an annual 
Business Plan that will set specific 
priorities for the year ahead and 
report on progress against agreed key 
performance indicators. In turn the 
Business Plan will be complemented by 
Oxford City Council’s annual Budget 
that will allocate resources against the 
priorities set.

101



OxfOrd City COunCil

18
102



 

. 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 16 March 2022 

Report of: Head of Corporate Strategy 

Title of Report:  COVID 19: Oxfordshire System Recovery and 
Renewal Framework 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To consider adoption of a countywide and systemwide 
strategy for recovery and renewal in Oxfordshire following 
the COVID pandemic. 

Key decision: Yes  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Susan Brown, Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Inclusive Growth, Economic Recovery and Partnerships 

Corporate Priority: All 

Policy Framework: Council Strategy 2020-24 

 

Recommendation(s):That Cabinet resolves to: 

1. Adopt the Oxfordshire System Recovery and Renewal Framework, as set 
out in Appendix 1, as the key partnership document guiding joint programme 
planning beyond the COVID-19 Pandemic period; and 

2. Delegate final revisions to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Leader of the Council, as partnership organisations complete their 
engagement and decision-making processes. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Oxfordshire’s Recovery and Renewal Framework 

Introduction and background  

1. Effective partnership working across Oxfordshire has been at the heart of the local 
system response to the COVID-19 pandemic. As the national and local picture 
improves, system partners have developed a shared framework for Recovery and 
Renewal (see Appendix 1). This document sets overarching common ambitions for 
the issues and themes that will be worked on together as organisations and the 
community learn from the pandemic. It aims to ensure that Oxfordshire is best 
placed to recover from the immediate impacts of the pandemic, to support the long-

103

Agenda Item 7



term renewal of communities and places, and enhance our joint impact on national 
and international challenges.  

2. System partners have worked closely together since early in 2020 to deliver a 
joined-up response across the board spectrum of COVID-19 impact. Partners have 
developed joint structures to support those required to stay at home, to encourage 
and enforce adherence to COVID restrictions, to monitor and contain the spread of 
the virus and to maintain the continuity of essential services. Joint responses have 
managed the impact on health and social care services and worked closely with 
Oxford’s universities and other education providers, the police, the voluntary and 
community sector and many others, while maintaining the many essential local 
authority services. From later in 2020 and into 2021, joint activity delivered 
community testing and laterally the successful role out of the vaccination 
programme. Partnership interventions have also sought to address the secondary 
impacts of the pandemic for individuals, communities and businesses through joint 
work on community engagement, business support, financial hardship and 
economic recovery. 

3. Throughout 2021, Oxfordshire’s system-wide COVID-19 response continued to 
focus on the immediate health impacts of the pandemic, containing outbreaks and 
minimising the transmission of the virus in the community. In line with the easing of 
most legal restrictions during the summer of 2021, system-partners revisited the 
long-term impact of COVID-19 and reviewed the shared focus of planning for 
recovery and renewal. 

4. The pandemic has led to economic, community and service impact that has yet to 
be fully understood at the system level. However, it can clearly be seen that 
existing inequalities and service and community pressures have been amplified, 
with likely long-term impacts. At the same time there has been a net financial 
impact of around £12 million on Oxford City Council as a result of lost income and 
increased expenditure, after Government support funding has been taken into 
account. As with many pre-existing challenges, the impact and effective responses 
will often lie across several agencies and sectors. 

5. To coordinate and prioritise COVID and post-COVID activity, and prioritise resource 
allocation, partners agreed to develop a set of joint themes for the next phase in 
the pandemic period and to bring together shared system priorities and joint 
ambitions for recovery and renewal in an overarching framework. 

6. This framework was initially drafted during late 2021 through engagement with 
system partners, drawing on priorities, impact analysis and community insight held 
within individual organisations and thematic partnerships. Progress on the 
framework was paused during December to allow partners to focus on the 
enhanced response to the Omicron variant and the framework is now being brought 
forward for formal adoption and incorporation into partnership planning for the new 
business year. 

Introducing the Framework 

7. The objective of an agreed joint framework is to provide a mechanism for driving 
systems working on renewal and an ongoing structure for collaboration across the 
Oxfordshire system.  It will enable us to better coordinate how we recover from the 
impacts of COVID and implement changes in the light of what we have learnt for 
our communities, organisations and partnerships. 

104



8. At the time of writing, the significant increase in infection rates related to the 
Omicron variant is waning. While service pressure in health and social care 
remains significant, the impact on educational settings remains high and workforce 
pressure across Oxford City Council’s services are evident, system partners are 
stepping back from the period of most concern. Nevertheless, the potential for 
changes in the nature of the pandemic and for service disruption generated by the 
cumulative risks associated with COVID’s direct and indirect impact remains, 
Therefore, while planning for the future, a level of COVID readiness will need to be 
maintained. Reflecting this position, the framework for recovery and renewal is 
arranged around three key aims: 

 Consolidating recovery and building resilience: Protecting key services and 
keeping social life and the economy open by sustaining our system response to 
COVID-19 and working together on addressing new pressures. This includes 
changes to service delivery as well as ways of working eg. our ongoing 
engagement with Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS), businesses and key 
partners. 
 

 Addressing the unequal impact of COVID-19: Proactively using qualitative 
and quantitative data and insight to identify the groups most impacted across a 
range of cross-cutting issues, beyond the immediate impact on health,  and 
tackling impact with a focus on the total strengths and needs of individuals and 
families. 
 

 Supporting renewal: Identifying new approaches and activities underpinned by 
the lessons we have learnt to date, building Oxfordshire’s resilience, not only 
against future waves of the pandemic but also in terms of economic and 
community resilience to wider societal challenges including climate change and 
ecological impacts. 

 
9. Across the three themes, two cross cutting priorities are recognised as needing to 

inform recovery and renewal thinking across the county: 

 Climate change action: Championing climate action across Oxfordshire as we 
work together to address climate change, build climate resilience and support 
nature recovery.   

 Tackling inequality: Driving equal access and delivery of support across all local 
communities, narrowing health, social and educational inequalities and tackling 
poverty.  

 

10. The full Framework document is available at Appendix 1. 

11. This document is necessarily a start point for longer term planning. Its aim is to act 
as a bridge between current partnership COVID response, delivery and planning, 
and future longer-term planning across the partnership agenda. It seeks to bring 
together, rather than replace, existing county-wide plans and strategies and ensure 
that recovery and renewal activities are incorporated into the wider partnership 
context. 

 

105



Alignment with Oxford City Council strategies  

12. The Oxfordshire System Recovery and Renewal Framework sets out a number of 
objectives and captures an approach to collaborative working that Oxford City 
Council has embraced through the last two years of the pandemic. Council officers 
and the Council Leader have worked with colleagues across the system in its 
creation. The Framework aligns well to a significant number of the Council’s 
existing and emerging strategies, policies and action plans. These include the 
overarching Council Plan 2020-2024 and draft Budget and Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2022-26, and: 

Consolidating Recovery and Building Resilience 

 Oxford Economic Strategy and Implementation Plan (post consultation) 

 Oxford Local Plan 2036 

 Corporate Debt Management Policy 

 Procurement Strategy 

 Covered Market Leasing Strategy 

Addressing the Unequal Impact of COVID-19 

 Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy (post consultation 

 Thriving Communities Strategy (pre consultation) 

 Housing and Homelessness Strategy 

 Oxford Volunteering Strategy 

 Oxford Children & Young Person’s Strategy  

 Oxfordshire Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy 

Supporting Renewal 

 Oxfordshire Industrial Strategy 

 Oxfordshire Local Infrastructure Strategy 

 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 

 Oxford City Centre Action (post consultation) 

Climate Change Action 

 Oxford City Council Fourth Carbon Management Plan  

 Zero Carbon Oxford Partnership Roadmap 2040 

 Oxford Zero Carbon Action Plan 

 Air Quality Action Plan 

 Parks and Green Spaces Biodiversity Action Plan  

 Urban Forest Strategy 

Tackling Inequality 

 Financial Inclusion Strategy 

 Discretionary Housing Payment Policy 

106



 Oxfordshire Food Strategy (pre-consultation) 

 

Next Steps 

13. As Oxford City Council’s strategies and policies come up for renewal and new ones 
are developed, they will be required to have regard to the Oxfordshire System 
Recovery & Renewal Framework.  

14. The Oxfordshire COVID response system comprises health, local authority, 
education and community safety participants alongside representatives of strategic 
partnerships, including OxLEP. These partners connect to a broader network of key 
deliverers including schools, business, town and parish councils and the voluntary 
and community sector. Core system partners including Oxfordshire’s other 
councils, health trusts, police, education and voluntary sector partners have agreed 
to adopt the joint Recovery and Renewal framework. This will start with local 
authorities, where recommendations to adopt the framework will be made to the 
relevant decision makers during March 2022.  

15. Significant engagement with system partners has already taken place. However, 
where additions and revisions are requested through the decision-making process, 
this report recommends that agreement to a final published version is delegated to 
the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Council. Consultation 
and communications are also being asked to adopt or note the Framework.  

Financial implications 

16. Development of the Recovery and Renewal Framework was met within existing 
resource designated for COVID-19 programme management and funded from 
dedicated government grant. 

17. The Recovery and Renewal Framework does not in itself direct resources and so 
while organisations are asked to adopt the framework as a strategic document 
within their policy making frameworks, there is no direct financial impact. 

Legal issues 

18. The adoption of the Oxfordshire System Recovery and Renewal Framework (which 
is appended and fully understood) will create an obligation on Oxford City Council 
to pay due regard to the contents of the same when making decisions in the future. 

Level of risk 

19. There is no specific risk assessment associated with the Framework. Its successful 
delivery is clearly contingent on a collaborative and consistent approach among a 
number of sovereign partner organisations. 

Equality & Inclusion Implications  

20. The Framework outlines the unequal impact of COVID and notes the need for detailed 
analysis to fully understand the direct and indirect impacts in the short, medium and 
long term. Activity is already underway within Oxford City Council and under wider 
system structures to directly address equality and inclusion as it relates to COVID-
19. This includes looking to address health inequality, vaccine outreach and support 
to homeless individuals. In the development and delivery of the ambitions set out 
within the framework and the progression of new partnership planning and activity, 

107



detailed equality impact will be required building on the new learning and impact from 
the COVID-19 period supported through re-analysis of data and information, for 
example within the updated Joint Strategy Needs Assessment and in the annual 
report of the Director of Public Health. 

 

Environmental Impact Assessment  

21. The Framework champions the need for coordinated action across the county to 
address climate change, build climate resilience and support nature recovery. It sets 
out a number of objectives to support this including: nurturing the creation of 
opportunities such as green apprentices driven by technological change and our 
ambitions for a net zero Oxfordshire and working with partners to make Oxfordshire 
a centre for green and sustainable technologies through a local ‘Green New Deal’. 

 

Conclusion 

22. The Oxfordshire System Recovery and Renewal Framework is aligned to a number 
of the strategic objectives already set out by Oxford City Council. Its adoption as a 
framework for post-pandemic collaborative work across the Oxfordshire system 
offers the prospect of closer orientation of partners’ efforts which should help make 
this Council’s objectives more achievable.  

 

Report author Mish Tullar 

Job title Head of Corporate Strategy 

Service area or department Corporate Strategy 

Telephone  07483 010499   

e-mail  mtullar@oxford.gov.uk 

 

Background Papers: None 

 

108



DECISION MAKING DRAFT

Appendix 1

Oxfordshire’s Recovery and Renewal 
Framework

March 2022

DECISION MAKING DRAFT

109



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

Recovery and Renewal Framework

Oxfordshire

2

Purpose of this document

The Recovery and Renewal Framework is ... The Recovery and Renewal Framework is not...

Oxfordshire’s Recovery and Renewal Framework provides an overarching system-wide ambition for the issues and themes that will 
be pursued through recovery and renewal.

A ‘call to action’ for all partners to consider other 
interventions which may need to be put in place to 
address these system-wide issues and themes.

A set of specific individual metrics which are used to 
measure delivery (although broad overarching 
partnership framework outcomes have been identified).

A replacement for existing county-wide plans and 
strategies.

A bridge between current partnership COVID 
response, delivery and planning and future longer 
term planning for Oxfordshire.

A list of specific actions or activities as these are 
contained in the relevant strategies.

A coordination and alignment, at a high level, of the 
system-wide plans that have already been developed 
or are being developed collaboratively.

110



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

Recovery and Renewal Framework

Oxfordshire

Contents

3

01 Introduction and Context 4

02 Oxfordshire’s Recovery and Renewal Themes 7

03 Key Enablers 18

111



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

1. Introduction and Context

Recovery and Renewal Framework

01 | Introduction and ContextOxfordshire

4

112



DECISION MAKING DRAFT

5

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a profound impact on day-
to-day life, business, education, and employment, as well as 
on the physical and mental health of many individuals. 
Disruption has led to financial pressures for many and the 
long-term impact on the economy is yet to be fully 
understood. 

Despite these challenges, COVID-19 has demonstrated the 
strengths and assets of inclusive local communities. 
Thousands of key workers and volunteers played an 
exceptional role in protecting the most vulnerable 
throughout these unprecedented times. Engaged public 
services, business and the voluntary and community sector 
kept operating under enormous pressure. We are of course 
also incredibly proud of the role that our leading academic 
and health institutions took at the centre of the global 
response to COVID-19. 

Throughout the pandemic, whole-systems working has acted 
as a ‘force multiplier’ in Oxfordshire, allowing us to flex and 
prioritise to meet the needs of the constantly changing 
situation to the maximum effect.

We want to learn the lessons from the past two years and 
build on the best partnership work in our county so that as 
we develop plans for the future, Oxfordshire not only 
recovers from the impact of COVID but is positively renewed.

The Oxfordshire picture

Oxfordshire

Recovery and Renewal Framework

01 | Introduction and Context

Clwyd

Gwynedd

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic across Oxfordshire Oxfordshire’s dynamic economy, rich 
culture and heritage and much-loved 
green spaces and ecological assets, 
together mean that its diverse and 
thriving communities are places 
where people want to live and work. 
Our quality of life is attractive to 
many. 

Nevertheless, inequality remains a 
significant feature within our county 
and has real impact on the health, 
wellbeing and social and economic 
opportunities of many residents.

113



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to economic, community and service impact that has yet to be fully understood at the system level. However, it 
is clear that it has amplified existing inequalities and service and community pressures, with long-term impact. As with many pre-existing issues, 
Oxfordshire’s responses to these challenges will lie in collaboration across several agencies and sectors.

To help us sustain and develop the impact of our strong operational partnerships, an overarching Oxfordshire Recovery and Renewal 
Framework has been developed which sets out the system-wide vision and approach to moving into the post-COVID environment. This 
framework looks at how Oxfordshire can be best placed to recover from the immediate impacts of the pandemic, to support the long-term 
renewal of our communities and places, and to enhance our shared impact on national and international challenges. 

Recovery and Renewal Framework

01 | Introduction and ContextOxfordshire

Looking ahead to Oxfordshire’s recovery and renewal

6

The three key aims of Oxfordshire’s Recovery and Renewal Framework

Consolidating recovery and building resilience: Protecting key services and keeping social life and the economy open by 

sustaining our system response to COVID-19 and working together on addressing new pressures. This includes changes to service 

delivery as well as ways of working eg. engagement with Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS), businesses and key partners.

Addressing the unequal impact of COVID-19: Proactively using qualitative and quantitative data and insight to identify the 

groups most impacted across a range of cross-cutting issues, beyond the immediate impact on health,  and tackling impact 

with a focus on the total strengths and needs of individuals and families.

Supporting renewal: Identifying new approaches and activities underpinned by the lessons we have learnt to date, building 

Oxfordshire’s resilience, not only against future waves of the pandemic but also in terms of economic and community 

resilience to wider societal challenges including climate change and ecological impacts.

114



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

2. Oxfordshire’s Recovery and 
Renewal Themes

Recovery and Renewal Framework

02 | Recovery and Renewal ThemesOxfordshire

7

115



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

Recovery and Renewal Framework

02 | Recovery and Renewal ThemesOxfordshire

8

Oxfordshire’s Recovery and Renewal Themes

Oxfordshire’s three Recovery and Renewal themes consider the broad impact of COVID-19 on all aspects of society with a focus on 
addressing issues that have had the most significant consequences on Oxfordshire’s people, places and businesses.

Better health and wellbeing
Supporting people in Oxfordshire to live healthy, safe and fulfilling lives. Focusing 
on children and young people and those with health vulnerabilities. 

Stronger communities
Developing stronger, more resilient communities where everyone can play an 
active part.

Shared economic prosperity
Ensuring that Oxfordshire’s strong economy has the widest impact.

Climate change action
Championing climate action across the County as we work together to address 
climate change, build climate resilience and support nature recovery.  

Tackling inequality
Driving equal access and delivery of support across all local communities, 
narrowing health, social and educational inequalities and tackling poverty. 

Across the three themes that we will use to organise our work, two key cross-cutting 
strategic priorities will inform recovery and renewal thinking across the county:

Better health 
and wellbeing

Tackling inequalities

Climate action change

116



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

The role of the Economic Recovery Task Group

As with other areas of recovery and renewal, there needs to be a whole system approach to tackling the 
economic impact of COVID-19 in the county.  The Economic Recovery Task Group is coordinating the overall 
response and identification of specific interventions. This includes the alignment of resources across 
partners to drive delivery and secure further investment to support businesses, whilst building an inclusive 
economy that benefits all who live and work in Oxfordshire. 

Key areas of focus for economic prosperity across Oxfordshire

● Ensuring access to skills training and employment opportunities for all residents but in particular 
young people entering the employment market and those who will not return to their previous 
employment following the end of furlough support.

● Support for local employment and businesses, working with partners to make Oxfordshire a centre 
for green and sustainable technologies through a local ‘Green New Deal’.

● Re-invigorating the visitor economy.

Impact of COVID

The Oxfordshire economy has, on the whole, been resilient to the impact of the pandemic. The county’s 
diverse business base and technology sectors have adapted but there are sectors which have particularly 
been affected including  the visitor economy and areas of the labour market that have been vulnerable to 
furlough or redundancies and for young people entering into employment.

Recovery and Renewal Framework

Oxfordshire

9

Shared economic prosperity: Introduction
Shared economic prosperity

15,800
furloughed employments in 
Oxfordshire as at 31 July 
2021

Key insights

Unemployment claimants 
increased by over 

250% in Oxfordshire 

during the pandemic

02 | Recovery and Renewal Themes

Source: GOV.UK

Source: Oxfordshire Insights

117

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-9-september-2021/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-9-september-2021#fig-4
https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/unemployment-claimants-october-2021


DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

Recovery and Renewal Framework

02 | Recovery and Renewal ThemesOxfordshire

10

Shared economic prosperity: Priority outcomes

There are a number of priority outcomes, which will help Oxfordshire deliver against its overarching aims for Recovery and Renewal.

Consolidating 
recovery and 
building
resilience

Rebuild the internationally renowned visitor and arts economy creating new jobs for young people.

Strengthen the resilience of Oxfordshire’s businesses, specifically helping small businesses, sole traders

and the self-employed to re-stabilise and grow post the pandemic.

Realign skills to meet the demands for existing opportunities in sectors with high employment needs and address 

skills gaps.

Addressing the 
unequal impact 
of COVID-19

Re-engage people most impacted by the pandemic to access activities, developing healthy thriving communities 

that are more physically and mentally resilient to the working demands of employment.

Proactively promote equal and fair access to all economic opportunities, maximising the talent and creativity from 

a diverse and inclusive workforce across Oxfordshire.

Supporting 
renewal

Drive world leading innovation enabled by a continued investment in Oxfordshire’s pioneering science and 

technology clusters.

Nurture the creation of new opportunities driven by technological change and our ambitions for a net zero 

Oxfordshire including green apprenticeships. 

02 | Recovery and Renewal Themes

Reduce the educational attainment gap in disadvantaged families.

118



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

Recovery and Renewal Framework

02 | Recovery and Renewal ThemesOxfordshire

11

Shared economic prosperity: Shared ambitions

Overarching ambitions have been identified to drive system-wide attention on this theme:

➔Business sectors report good recovery post COVID-19.

➔Increased opportunities to pilot new initiatives as a result of technological advancement and innovation.

➔Increase in number of individuals in education, employment or training  (including apprenticeships).

➔Reduction in financial inequalities and support for initiatives that raise incomes for the lowest paid.

➔Town centres and high streets accommodating a greater variety of spaces and businesses.

➔Growth in visitor and arts economy (eg. increased visitor spend, increased employment in this sector etc).

02 | Recovery and Renewal Themes

119



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

Oxfordshire

12

Better health and wellbeing: Introduction

Impact of COVID

Oxfordshire’s health and social care services, like those across the UK, have been tested and stretched throughout the 
pandemic. The resilience demonstrated across the county is thanks to an exceptional workforce, unprecedented 
partnership working and the power of communities. 
However the negative impact of COVID on health & wellbeing, particularly on those at higher risk of poor health 
outcomes,  is not yet understood and there will be challenges ahead.  As well as tackling new cases, long COVID, 
mental health and grief support, Oxfordshire will press ahead with their continuing commitment to preventative 
measures such as tobacco control, cardiovascular disease prevention, tackling obesity and physical activity and 
mental wellbeing. This work will help Oxfordshire to achieve its goals around reducing inequalities and minimising 
the risks to those who isolated or who were acutely at risk during COVID. 

Key insights

Better Health and Wellbeing

Sustainable and healthy communities

Healthy place-shaping  and other community planning based wellbeing initiatives, supports the creation of active, 
sustainable and resilient communities that will thrive as Oxfordshire recovers. The whole Oxfordshire system is 
committed to coming together with the aim of reducing inequalities whilst retaining a collective focus on a greener 
future (steps that promote climate action also deliver healthy communities). Oxfordshire will seek to create a health 
enabling built environment and increase biodiversity  whilst encouraging all to enjoy healthy lifestyles that utilise local 
green spaces and leisure services.

Supporting everyone

Oxfordshire’s health and wellbeing approach exists across the whole lifespan of residents, thinking about the early 
years offer, young people aged 16-24, those with pre existing health conditions, right through to older age adults and 
those who care for them. Oxfordshire’s overarching health and wellbeing strategy demonstrates a commitment for 
the NHS, social care, the VCSE and the community to work together to deliver new models of care that seek to
prevent, reduce or delay the need for care, whilst ensuring all partners feel supported. 

In Oxfordshire, 3,165
people over 65 were 

admitted to hospital due to
a fall in 2020

In January 2021, 

5,750+
residents across Oxfordshire 
were claiming PIP for mental 
health reasons

Recovery and Renewal Framework

02 | Recovery and Renewal Themes

Source: Oxfordshire Insights

Source: Oxfordshire Community Foundation

120

https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/system/files/documents/JSNA_Final_20210331.pdf
https://3p50ut4bws5s2uzhmycc4t21-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Loneliness-and-isolation-Insight-report-Jan-2021.pdf


DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

Recovery and Renewal Framework

02 | Recovery and Renewal ThemesOxfordshire

13

Better health and wellbeing: Priority outcomes

There are a number of priority outcomes, which will help Oxfordshire deliver against its overarching aims for Recovery and Renewal.

Consolidating 
recovery and 
building 
resilience

Adopt a strengths-based, people-centred approach encouraging individuals to be more proactive about 

their health and wellbeing, enabling increased independence.

Addressing the 
unequal impact 
of COVID-19

Provide coordinated services across the system focused around individual strengths and needs and 

prioritising those cohorts impacted by multiple and complex needs eg. early years, 16-24 year olds, 

vulnerable adults etc.
Drive awareness and access to health and wellbeing support across the community, specifically for

children and young people (including working with schools) and adults with vulnerabilities. 

Supporting 
renewal

Become a county where mental wellbeing issues are well understood, prioritised and addressed.

02 | Recovery and Renewal Themes

Extend the impact of social prescribing that links funding to health improvement activities delivered 

through leisure, well-being and community facilities.

121



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

Recovery and Renewal Framework

02 | Recovery and Renewal ThemesOxfordshire

14

Better health and wellbeing: Shared ambitions

Overarching ambitions have been identified to drive system-wide attention on this theme:

➔A reduction in the need for treatment in hospitals and care services (as people become more independent).

➔Increase in the number and uptake of social wellbeing initiatives and community based support eg. opportunities to get active.

➔Service plans include mental wellbeing as a core consideration.

➔Fewer acute instances which compromise mental wellbeing.

➔Increased understanding and sharing of core health and wellbeing data and insights across the system.

➔Increased early identification of diseases.

➔Increased referrals to local, non-clinical community services (social prescribing).

02 | Recovery and Renewal Themes

122



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

Behaviours which emerged through the pandemic

Throughout the pandemic, Oxfordshire has witnessed the strength of local communities across the county. 
The established VCS, along with countless informal community groups and networks, whether faith, place 
or interest based, have demonstrated leadership, commitment and resilience. As we move towards a still 
uncertain future, Oxfordshire will continue to support and develop local communities through the recovery 
whilst acknowledging and learning lessons from the pandemic response to date on the way that we
understand difference, increasingly plan on a whole-place basis and prioritise community voice.

Recovery and Renewal Framework

Stronger communities: Introduction

Oxfordshire

15

Stronger communities

increase in domestic violence 

call volumes post March 2020

compared to the same periods 
in 2019

Key insights

Oxfordshire’s commitments

We will continue to work collaboratively across the system, working with community groups to empower 
them to lead and to make the changes they need to enable recovery and to tackle issues such as loneliness 
and isolation and digital enablement. This links to expanding community services and assets to offer 
Oxfordshire’s services in a more digitally accessible way with impact for all. 

Understanding data and insights

A stronger system-wide approach will need to be underpinned by shared data and insight which will be 
used to inform decision-making to develop stronger communities. This data and insight will also be critical 
to monitoring the outcomes and improvements that are delivered across local communities.  

23% of people aged 85+ 

live in areas of Oxfordshire ranked 
in the top 10% of deprived areas 
on access to services in 2020

02 | Recovery and Renewal Themes

In Oxfordshire, there was a 

25%

Source: JSNA

Source: Domestic Abuse Review Group

123

https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/system/files/documents/2020_JSNA.pdf
https://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s59141/DARG report - FINAL.pdf


DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

Recovery and Renewal Framework

02 | Recovery and Renewal ThemesOxfordshire

16

Stronger Communities: Priority outcomes

There are a number of priority outcomes, which will help Oxfordshire deliver against its overarching aims for Recovery and Renewal.

Consolidating 
recovery and 
building 
resilience

Support the resilience and sustainability of the voluntary and community sector, specifically to deliver 
community-led interventions with preventative impact.

Addressing the 
unequal impact 
of COVID-19

Use person and family centred approaches working as an Oxfordshire system to align activities and promote more 
joined up community development.

Supporting 
renewal

Drive the delivery of place-based interventions to provide support and services where they are most needed.

Focus on ‘community activation’, empowering residents to take more personal responsibility for the delivery of 
joint outcomes across local communities.

02 | Recovery and Renewal Themes

A stronger and more collaborative system-wide approach underpinned by shared data and insight.

124



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

Recovery and Renewal Framework

02 | Recovery and Renewal ThemesOxfordshire

17

Stronger Communities: Shared ambitions

Overarching ambitions have been identified to drive system-wide attention on this theme:

➔Local decision making and services are informed by collaborative efforts across the system.

➔An increase in joint targeted activity between the system and community & voluntary groups, including hyper-local action where 
appropriate.

➔A reduction in the number of citizens who feel isolated, along with an increase in usage of community and cultural resources, including 
public libraries and green spaces.

➔Citizens in Oxfordshire are healthy, safe and achieving.

➔Communities impacted most by COVID-19 receive the required support they need to sustain resilience against any future impact.

➔Collaboration to release funding and monitor programmes and initiatives in the VCS, including sharing data and  insights.

02 | Recovery and Renewal Themes

125



DECISION MAKING DRAFTDECISION MAKING DRAFT

3. Key enablers

Recovery and Renewal Framework

03 | Key EnablersOxfordshire

18

126



DECISION MAKING DRAFT

Overview of key enablers

03 | Key EnablersOxfordshire

Recovery and Renewal Framework 19

The delivery of Oxfordshire’s Recovery and Renewal Framework will need to be underpinned by two key enablers:

Ongoing COVID readiness, response and 
resilience

Alongside recovery, the ongoing delivery of reactive 
COVID activity in line with national guidelines (incl. the 
CONTAIN framework) will be important to continuing to 
manage the health impacts of the pandemic. This includes 
a number of areas such as:

● Continuing to drive take-up of the vaccine 
programme across local communities.

● Maintaining clear communications, giving 
trusted information and guidance to influence 
behaviours and empower residents to take 
personal responsibility.

● Retaining proportionate capacity for testing, 
local contact tracing, and the support of self-
isolation to minimise the risks of transmission.

● Supporting national efforts to reduce the risks of 
variants emerging globally entering the UK 
through ensuring local compliance with testing 
and quarantine regimes following international 
travel.

● Keeping in place robust contingency measures 
to deal with the unexpected eg. utilising powers 
to impose local restrictions etc. 

Systems working

Over the last 18 months, a lot of time and effort has been invested by partners including local government, 
health and social care, emergency services, the VCS, businesses etc. to establish a whole-system 
partnership response to COVID-19. The value and strength of this approach is evident from the range of 
initiatives successfully delivered including (but not limited to):

● The establishment of joint working groups to ensure alignment across local place-based issues 
eg. the ‘system-wide local outbreak control communications group’ which has increased the 
collective reach of the system and enabled access to hard-to-reach groups in local communities. 

● The ability to deploy resources flexibly across the system to rapidly mobilise activities and 
support direct delivery on the ground eg. passporting funding to the VCS to deliver targeted local 
initiative.

● The opportunities for joined up community development to deliver better local outcomes eg.
through the healthy place-shaping agenda which is one specific example of how place-based, 
community-led models are helping to empower residents and create a better place for people to 
live and work in. 

There is a significant opportunity for partners to continue to build on these successes, specifically as they 
think about transitioning to focus on Oxfordshire's recovery and renewal from the pandemic.

Partners across the system should use this overarching framework to:
● Guide and inform prioritisation of investment and resource to deliver these system-wide priority 

outcomes.
● Identify further areas where working in partnership across the system may enable the delivery of 

cross-cutting outcomes across Oxfordshire. 

127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 09 February 2022 

Report of: Scrutiny Committee 

Title of Report:  Procurement Strategy 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To present Scrutiny Committee recommendations 
concerning the Scrutiny-requested update on changes to 
the Procurement Strategy. 

Key decision: 

Scrutiny Lead 
Member: 

No 

Councillor Liz Wade, Chair of the Scrutiny Committee 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Ed Turner, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Asset Management 

Corporate Priority: All 

Policy Framework: Council Strategy 2020-24 

Recommendation: That the Cabinet states whether it agrees or disagrees 
with the recommendations in the body of this report. 

 

Appendices 

None 

 

Introduction and overview 

1. At its meeting on 18 January 2022, the Scrutiny Committee received a 
presentation on the Council’s current Procurement Strategy and its current 
thinking on potential changes when it is refreshed.  
 

2. The Committee would like to thank Annette Osborne, Procurement Manager, for 
attending the meeting to make the presentation and to answer questions.   

 

 

129

Agenda Item 8



 

Summary and recommendation 

 
3. Annette Osborne explained to the Committee that the Council’s Procurement 

Strategy is currently under review, with a view to seeing it refreshed. A number of 
the amendments under consideration included the embedding of social value 
within commissioning and procurement decisions; tailoring the national TOMs 
(themes outcomes and measures) framework for local use, so called OxTOMs; 
taking greater account of environmental impacts; strengthening GDPR; contract 
management: and fostering an inclusive economy through Community Wealth 
Building.  

4. Although the entirety of procurement, and how the Council purchases services is 
a wide topic, the large majority of the discussion focused on understanding and 
exploring different aspects of social value within procurement and community 
wealth building. On these topics, which have significant cross-over with one 
another, the Committee makes seven recommendations which pertain to good 
practice which can be learnt from elsewhere, broadening the Council’s 
progressive procurement agenda locally, and specific policies. 

Learning from Good Practice 

 
5. The Council is itself a leader in the area of social value in procurement. In a 

recent benchmarking exercise the against Croydon, Stoke, Southampton and 
Birmingham councils,1 Oxford outperformed or equalled these comparators, with 
62.5% of its money being spent locally, scoring well above central government’s 
target of 33%. This is not to say, however, that the Council cannot learn from 
other high-performing councils in this space. It is noted that the Council has 
previously contacted Preston Council, a particularly high-profile council 
concerning community wealth building, and has not received responses. 
Nevertheless, the past is not necessarily a predictor of the future, and the council 
could well receive helpful input from other pioneering councils also. As such, it is 
recommended by the Committee that the Council seek the views of these 
councils for comment as part of their consultation on the new Procurement 
Strategy.  

Recommendation 1: That the Council contacts pioneering community 
wealth building councils for comment as part of its consultation on 
updating its Procurement Strategy. 
 

6. One particular aspect of Preston’s approach which the Committee is keen to 
highlight is its transparency over how social value weightings in contract tenders 
are decided prior to the contract being advertised. It is completely right that there 
should be flexibility within contracts to tailor them to ensure their primary 
outcomes are delivered. Weightings between price, quality and risk can all be 
amended between contracts, and so too should social value. 

7. What the Committee is keen to see is that this flexibility is maintained, but that 
the Council is open to its electorate, to potential suppliers, other anchor 

                                            
1
 Eleven suitable councils were identified, but not all provided data in a usable format to enable 

comparison.  

130



 

institutions in the city, and interested local authorities who may be looking to 
emulate Oxford over how variations in social value weightings are arrived at and 
the guiding principles which influence a contract’s final social value weighting. 
Preston Council make this and indicative evaluation matrices available on their 
website, and the Committee considers that this is good practice which the 
Council should seek to emulate  

Recommendation 2: That the Council publishes a description of the 
principles of that determine its social value weightings in contract tenders 
and indicative evaluation matrices. 

8. The following point is largely the opposite side of the point above. Yes, the 
Council should have flexibility in its contracts, but at the same time that flexibility 
ought not to diminish or sacrifice its commitment to achieving social value. It is 
important that the Council knows that the weightings it uses are sufficient to 
develop additional social value above what would have accrued if those 
weightings had not been applied. It is difficult to measure this precisely; it is 
reasonable to expect that the mere presence of a social value weighting will 
encourage companies to provide more than they would otherwise. Nevertheless, 
the Committee feels that monitoring of how often social value weightings change 
procurement outcomes would be a reasonable proxy and provide a sense of 
whether the current weightings do make a tangible difference. This is likely to be 
of wider interest, so it is suggested that the outcome of this monitoring is reported 
on a regular basis. 

Recommendation 3: That the Council monitors and reports on how often 
social value weightings change procurement outcomes. 
 

9. The Committee makes a further recommendation to bolster this aim of extracting 
as much social value as possible from the contracts which are put out to tender. 
As referenced above, there are a number of Councils which are forerunners in 
developing social value, and the Council already performs well within this group 
in relation to the percentage of its spend being made locally. However, local 
spend in some ways is simply a prerequisite for leveraging the Council’s power 
to create social good through its spending. The mechanisms for translating that 
spend into social good need to be refined, and in this aspect the Council is 
perhaps not as far advanced as some of the other community wealth building 
councils. The Committee is keen that continued liaison with other community 
wealth building councils occurs, particularly in relation to these mechanisms: 
what to include within ‘social value’, the weightings in different types of contract 
to social value and other concerns, ensuring sufficient simplicity that target 
companies, local SMEs, do not find the associated administrative burdens an 
insurmountable barrier, and contract monitoring which ensures that promised 
social benefits are delivered but which, again, are not unduly burdensome. 
Clearly, every community is different, meaning a cut and paste approach will not 
work. The outsized influence, for example, of the universities in Oxford are very 
atypical. Nevertheless, adopting approaches from elsewhere which have been 
successful is likely to be a valuable starting point for refining the Council’s own 
particular requirements.  

 
Recommendation 4: That the Council liaises with and models its approach 
and mechanisms to deliver social value in procurement on other pioneer 

131



 

community wealth building councils unless there is a compelling local 
reason not to do so.  

Broadening Local Impact 

10. One of the key steps identified by Preston in their success is identifying and 
working with other anchor institutions in the local area. This is an area which the 
Council is already taking a lead on, with procurement officers looking to develop 
in consultation with other key local stake holders the OxTOMs framework. The 
Committee welcomes the work undertaken to date, but does wish to underline its 
continued importance. A shared approach to social value locally amongst anchor 
intuitions would make it far more resource-effective for local firms to invest time in 
understanding and developing an offer to meet this single social value framework 
than a patchwork of differing schemes. The Committee would like to see this 
work progressed, therefore, as a matter of priority. 

Recommendation 5: That the Council continues, as a matter of priority, to 
work with anchor institutions locally to develop a shared approach to 
procurement that enriches the local economy. 
 

Specific Policies 

11. As referenced above, social value is but one of a number of elements weighed 
when selecting between competitors for a contract. Amidst the financial 
challenges the Council faces, value for money is clearly a very important 
consideration. However, the Committee is keen to stress that ‘value for money’ 
can be determined in multiple ways and is not necessarily synonymous with 
‘cheapest’. In October 2019 the Council passed a motion in support of adopting a 
community wealth building approach to its procurement. Within community wealth 
building there are multiple additional considerations to simply absolute cost: 
whole life cost, returns on good value (such as longer durability of items 
purchased), investment in the local labour force, avoiding surplus leakage, and 
indirect costs associated with lengthening the supply chain. The Committee 
seeks assurance that the Council will seek value from its suppliers, as defined by 
the community wealth building approach to which it is committed, and not just low 
cost.  
 
Recommendation 6: That the Council ensures its definition of value for 
money is consistent with the community wealth building agenda, and 
specifically that the Council ensures that it is always measuring lowest cost 
alongside other factors relevant to ethical procurement approaches.  

 

12. Concern over the ethics of organisations the Council decides to partner with is an 
issue which has been raised previously by Scrutiny to Cabinet. It is raised here 
again on two grounds in particular. Firstly, there is a consistency with the thread 
of social value in procurement that the way the Council spends its money, who it 
partners with and under what conditions have real-world consequences. As such, 
the way it chooses to do these things is an expression of the values it holds. The 
Council will not invest directly in companies which undermine its fundamental 
values, but at the moment it could trade with them, and be a source of profit to 

132



 

them. The ethical line between not being willing to support a company through 
investment and being willing to support it through trade seems very thin. This 
issue links to the Committee’s second concern, that of public perception. If there 
were to be a justification for trading with a company but not investing in it, that 
decision would be a very tight one, and based on a very thorough cost-benefit 
analysis. It is unlikely, however, that members of the public would be party to 
such finely calibrated deliberations. If the Council were to choose to partner with 
an unethical company it would run a reputational risk with the public. The 
Committee feels this is not a risk worth taking, and that it would be better if the 
Council provided a wider berth to companies which are particularly ethically 
controversial.  
 

13. Whilst the Committee stands by this view, it is also pragmatic and understands 
that the due diligence required to make this wish a reality is significant. 
Resources devoted to ensuring that the Council does not partner with unethical 
companies are also resources which cannot be spent in support of our most 
vulnerable residents. There is a balance to be struck. The Committee is 
supportive of limiting the scope of any request to larger contracts, where there is 
more available information on companies and which would reduce the workload. 
It also does not wish to tie the hands of Council by specifying how any ethical due 
diligence should be undertaken, trusting that the Council will find a suitable way 
to make this happen. Ultimately, it is simply keen that the Council begins moving 
towards taking responsibility for the ethical outcomes of its spending decisions as 
well as its investment decisions.  
 
Recommendation 7: That for its larger contracts, the Council institutes an 
ethical due diligence check to ensure compatibility of commercial partners 
with the Council’s own standards. 

 

Further Consideration  

 
14. The Committee or the Finance and Performance Panel would welcome the 

opportunity to hear the report on the Procurement Strategy when it comes 
forward in due course.    

 
 

 

Report author Tom Hudson 

Job title Scrutiny Officer 

Service area or department Law and Governance 

Telephone  01865 252191  

e-mail  thudson@oxford.gov.uk 

 
 

133



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 16 March 2022 

Report of: Scrutiny Committee 

Title of Report:  Oxfordshire Plan 2050 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To present Scrutiny Committee recommendations 
concerning the report submitted to Scrutiny on the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050. 

Key decision: 

Scrutiny Lead 
Member: 

Yes 

Councillor Liz Wade, Chair of the Scrutiny Committee 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Alex Hollingsworth, Cabinet Member for 
Planning and Housing Delivery 

Corporate Priority: All 

Policy Framework: Council Strategy 2020-24 

Recommendation: That the Cabinet states whether it agrees or disagrees 
with the recommendations in the body of this report. 

 

Appendices 

None 

 

Introduction and overview 

1. At its meeting on 01 February 2022, the Scrutiny Committee considered a report 
by Phillip Wadsworth on behalf of the Future Oxford Partnership, detailing the 
progress of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, and in particular looking at responses to 
the most recent consultation exercise.  
 

2. The Committee would like to give particular thanks to all those who attended: 
Councillor Alex Hollingsworth, Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing 
Delivery, Adrian Arnold, Head of Planning Services, and Rachel Williams, 
Planning Policy and Place Manager. In addition to the length of the meeting, the 

135



 

Committee recognises the difficulty of presenting a report written and owned by 
another organisation. 

 

Summary and recommendation 

 
3. Cllr Alex Hollingsworth, Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Delivery 

explained a number of the challenges relating to the report – that he was able 
only to give personal views rather than speaking on behalf of the Cabinet or other 
participating Councils, and the difficulty and importance of aligning the processes 
for producing and scrutinising the drafts of the Oxfordshire Plan. 

4. Rachel Williams, Planning Policy and Place Manager introduced the report. She 
highlighted that the process to deliver a development plan was lengthy, 
particularly when engaging in novel, cross-Council working. The Committee had 
had limited opportunity to make changes to the Regulation 18 consultation 
document, but those suggestions made by the Committee had been included 
within the Council’s response. The present work was to refine policy options, 
involving listening to views from the last round of consultation, building the 
evidence base and testing what was practical, feasible and deliverable. These 
would be drawn together into a draft Regulation 19 consultation document, which 
would be subject to further opportunity for Scrutiny. However, it might be better to 
engage at an earlier stage whilst the document was less fixed.  

5. Given Scrutiny’s consideration lasted for over two hours, the discussion was 
wide-ranging, taking in clarifications of process issues around the Plan and the 
most recent Regulation 18 consultation – particularly with regard to Scrutiny’s 
interaction with it, and policy around housing density, location of growth, and the 
Green Belt, and other areas to be discussed below. In total, the Committee 
makes six recommendations. These recommendations coalesce around these 
two key areas: i) issues pertaining to consultation on the Oxfordshire Plan, and ii) 
issues around particular policies. 

 

Consultation on the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 

 
6. Much of the Committee’s discussion focused on the usefulness of the 

consultation report. The form that the consultation report has taken, to present 
factually and transparently the totality of comments made as part of the 
consultation, has the benefit of being totally neutral. There is minimal 
engagement in the consultation report with what was said; instead the comments 
are allowed to speak for themselves. The potential for being accused of pre-
judging decisions is minimised. Only afterwards the comments are logged are 
they then weighted up. However, this approach has a significant downside. In 
total, ten out of the thirty-two policy options and three out of the five spatial 
options provided no clear steer in the approach which should be taken, or views 
were fully polarised. The decision not to attribute comments to specific individuals 
or organisations may have been made so as not to distract from the import of the 
comments themselves. However, a consequence is that whilst all comments are 
presented equally, in the subsequent policy development stage they are not all 

136



 

deemed equally valid. Making decisions where there are polarised views is a 
necessary part of developing a public strategy. However, it also obscures what, 
for many people is an important consideration: who is making comments, and 
whose comments tend to be accepted, and whose not? In particular, the 
Committee keenly felt that it was important to be able to delineate between the 
treatment of views of residents and those with other interests, particularly 
developers.  

 
7. The Committee’s suggestion to address this is the creation of a brief 

supplementary report for Cabinet to consider, focusing on those areas of 
disagreement within the consultation. The aim would be to bring greater 
understanding to the tensions between parties and the decisions made, thereby 
promoting greater transparency and accountability. 
 
Recommendation 1: That the Council requests a brief supplementary report 
for Cabinet to consider that focuses on the points of contention within the 
consultation in order that members (and the public) can understand what 
the political choices are that Oxford City Council is faced with. 
 
 

8. The Committee expressed concern that the consultation received only a total of 
422 different responses. It is accepted that some of the respondents were 
organisations who speak on behalf of a larger number of individuals. 
Nevertheless, Oxfordshire is estimated to be home for approximately 700,000 
individuals. This makes the response rate approximately 0.6%. As a further 
counterbalance to the fact that some respondents were organisations, it must be 
remembered that some were businesses also. It is not possible to give a precise 
number, but is safe to say that the engagement from individual Oxfordshire 
residents to the consultation was very low. The particular concern of the 
Committee is that the lower the participation, the less likely the responses are to 
be representative. Given that this is a plan which will shape the environment of 
the County for decades to come, ensuring all sections of the community are 
enabled to have input is critical. 

9. A key problem perceived by the Committee for consultation on a plan such as 
this is the amount of knowledge and understanding it presupposes. A large 
volume of text is often a barrier in itself, let alone when their subject is technical. 
Simply presenting the document and asking the public to engage in consultation 
with it automatically excludes large numbers of people from having their voices 
heard.  

10. The Committee accepts that with all its recommendations, the Council is only one 
of six partners in the production of the Plan, and that therefore the support of the 
Council is not sufficient on its own in seeing a recommendation put into practice. 
It also recognises that engaging and supporting a more demographically 
representative group of respondents will have consequences in terms of time and 
cost. Despite both these considerations, the Committee maintains the view that 
on balance this so important a topic that it merits greater investment in getting a 
representative view from residents, and seeks that the Council work with its 
partners to see that this does happen in the future.  

137



 

Recommendation 2: That the Council seeks to ensure that future 
consultations on the plan involve greater depth of consultation amongst a 
more demographically representative group of respondents. 

 
11. Following on from the above, the report on the consultation references a focus 

group undertaken with support for participants to make their view known. The 
Committee does wish to recognise the positive engagement that there has been, 
and would like to see this developed further.  

12. Based on its support for the approach taken in this instance, the Committee is 
particularly interested to hear the outcomes of the focus group. Indeed, on the 
basis of the higher investment in supporting attendees to reach an informed 
conclusion, the trust in the quality of responses by Members and the public may 
be higher. As such, the Committee would like to see the results by made publicly 
available and to be distributed to Members.  

 
Recommendation 3: That the Council requests that the results of the focus 
group undertaken as part of the Regulation 18 Part 2 consultation be made 
publicly available and distributed to Members. 
 

Specific Policy Suggestions 

13. Policy option 03 in the Regulation 18 document which was put to consultation 
concerns water efficiency. It notes the importance of ensuring the balancing of 
water needs for communities, the natural environment and businesses. A lot of 
the discussion is on access to water and ensuring there is sufficient water 
available, with the Water Cycle Study informing the Plan. Ensuring access to 
water is one issue, but households and businesses rely on clean water. Growth 
to 2050 will put strains on the capacity of Thames Water to provide sufficient 
clean water, and will require investment to ensure there is sufficient capacity. 
This may be in hand, but the downside risks are of sufficient seriousness that the 
Committee wishes to raise its concerns to ensure that there is clear alignment 
between Thames Water’s plans for investment in treatment works and those 
areas scheduled for growth.  

Recommendation 4: That the Council works with partners to ensure there is 
alignment between Thames Water’s future investment plans for water 
treatment works and those areas outlined in Oxfordshire for growth. 

 
14. Policy option 16 concerns leisure, recreation, community and open space 

facilities. The section outlines the provisions in regards to strategic leisure 
provision. Suggested after the preferred policy option is an alternative, which 
adds to the existing proposals a policy to protect existing indoor and outdoor 
sports facilities and open spaces within the County. Given the importance of 
public space, particularly for those with less money, on physical health, mental 
health and wellbeing, the Committee is strongly supportive of this alternative 
policy. Indeed, it would wish to see greater detail provided such that play areas, 
parks and nature reserves are explicitly included within this policy.  
 

138



 

Recommendation 5: That the Council supports the alternative policy option 
for policy 16, but with an extended remit to include play areas and parks 
and nature reserves as well. 
  

15. The Committee recognises that one of the key strategic priorities that the Council 
has been trying to ensure is embedded and prioritised within the Plan is the 
tackling of inequality and deprivation. Consequently, it does not ask for greater 
efforts in negotiations to see this reflected more strongly as it is understood that 
maximum effort has and is being put towards achieving this. Instead, the 
Committee makes a practical suggestion which seeks to make whatever is 
agreed more effective. 
 

16. Inequality and deprivation are complex and entrenched issues, and a strategic 
response to them will necessarily need to cover a broad set of topics. The 
existing draft does not ignore these issues, covering, for example, job creation, 
housing numbers, air quality and skills and education needs. On the other hand, 
these are dispersed throughout the document. The Committee would expect that 
consolidating these topics into one section and explicitly looking at them through 
a specific lens reducing inequality and deprivation would have two benefits. 
Firstly, these topics have relevance beyond tackling inequality. Poor air quality, 
for example, impacts everybody. It just so happens that it impacts the poorest 
and most vulnerable more than others. Approaching them with this particular 
focus would frame and define them, pushing discussion and thinking of each one 
towards what the Council would see as higher priority considerations. Secondly, 
by amalgamating otherwise disparate topics makes much clearer their 
interactions and dependencies, allowing for a more joined up approach. The 
Committee understands that representations have been made to cut down the 
number of policies within the Plan; hopefully this existing position can be 
employed to further use to address more effectively one of the Council’s key 
priorities.  

 
Recommendation 6: That the Council seeks that current relevant policies 
are amalgamated into one dedicated policy of how the Plan will reduce 
inequality and deprivation. 

 

Further Consideration  

 
17. The Committee is extremely keen that there should be further discussion on this 

topic. Following the meeting a meeting between the Chair and Vice-Chair of 
Scrutiny, the Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Delivery and relevant 
officers discussed how best to do this. On top of the all-member briefing on 
growth figures taking place earlier this week, Scrutiny will be requesting a report 
in either June or July 2022 where it will be asked its views on the broad 
proposals.  

 
 

Report author Tom Hudson 

139



 

Job title Scrutiny Officer 

Service area or department Law and Governance 

Telephone  01865 252191  

e-mail  thudson@oxford.gov.uk 

 
 

140



Budget Review Group Recommendations and Responses 
 
 
 

No Recommendation Agree? Comments 

1 That the Council provides clarity 
around how it intends to avoid 
double counting in the Change 
savings, e.g., in the procurement 
savings already in the Budget 
proposals. 

Yes Change programme is integrated with the budget setting process and 
MTFP. It has taken an evidence led approach using volumetric data where 
available. The change programme team have worked directly with service 
managers and teams to identify savings over and above their existing MTFP 
contributions and avoid double counting. Service managers have signed off 
the savings. Confidence ratings have been applied to savings across the 
years to allow for any delay/slippage in the programme delivery. The CMT 
Steering Group will be accountable for benefit realisation and tracking of the 
savings contribution of the change programme. 

2 That the Council provides details of 
relevant comparator IT savings in 
recent budgets, comparing the 
forecast savings with those which 
have been delivered. 

yes and 
provided 
herewith 

There was £140k staff saving in ICT identified in the 2020/21 budget which 
was achieved.  
 
Within this year’s budget setting process £300k to cover the increasing costs 
of data storage offsite by an external supplier is set to be saved over the 
next 2 year period commencing 2022-23  
  
There is £95k per annum in respect of Servitor and other licences to be 
saved in 2022-23 from decommissioning legacy systems and implementing 
QL.  As you know this has been delayed but is now set to be removed as 
per the MTFP and we are on track to deliver that. 
 
The revs and bens system implementation which went live in September 
2021 delivered around £100k of staff savings which have been removed 
from the budget in 2022-23.  
 
  

3 That the Council uses audit fees from 
the past few years as a basis for 
estimating full audit fees. 

Yes For the coming year the budget for external audit fees is estimated at 
£86,400. Last year the actual fee was £23k more than this. The overspend 
was financed from reserves and balances and should this occur this year 
then a similar process will be followed. For the next round of budget setting 
since the indications are that increased fees are highly likely we will propose 
to increase the fees to accommodate. In terms of internal audit fees the 

141

A
genda Item

 9



Budget Review Group Recommendations and Responses 
 
 

budget is £57k per annum and whilst this occasionally overspends we do try 
to adjust the days in the internal audit programme to align with the budget 

4 That the Council reinitiates 
discussions with the County and 
Cherwell District Council about 
potential reprovision of 
Investigations Team services. 

Yes It was disappointing that the County Council and Cherwell District Council 
terminated their contracts for the provision of Investigation Service with the 
City Council in preference to undertaking the work in house. With the recent 
news of the dissolution of the management arrangements between the 2 
authorities the council will indeed look to approach the 2 authorities to 
explore the potential for providing Investigation services to either or both 
Councils.    

5 That the Council presents how much 
of its fee generation by lawyers in 
respect of s.106 and conveyancing is 
secure (i.e., that it originates from 
OCC, ODS or OCHL) and how much 
is non-secure (is generated from 
external sources) 

N/A All of the s106 and conveyancing income is from external sources. Income 
from OCHL and ODS is recorded separately. But the Legal Services team 
have significantly over achieved on their conveyancing and s106 income for 
at least the last two years and consider there is minimal risk of this income 
significantly decreasing.  

6 That the Council reduces its spend 
on external biodiversity consultants 
by investing in its own in-house 
expertise instead. 

No The Council has already increased investment in in-house biodiversity 

expertise, with the officer resource having moved from 0.4FTE to 1FTE. 

However, changes being introduced as a result of the Environment Act 2021 

mean we will need to retain the ability to use external consultants when 

necessary, depending on the type of work and the volume of work at any 

one time and the capacity we have available at the time. The resources for 

this type of work will always be kept under review, given workloads. 

7 That the Council undertakes a review 
at 3 and 6 months of car park 
revenue to check if income is on 
track, and if not that this is escalated 
for consideration of in-year 
adjustment of car park fees 

Yes The Council undertakes monthly monitoring of income and expenditure and 
with quarterly reports to Cabinet. Car park income is a key risk area for the 
council which will be subject to more in depth scrutiny. Variations will be 
reported to Senior Management and Members with any recommendations 
for any in year budget adjustments that may be required to bring the budget 
back on target 

8 That the Council works with the 
County Council to model the 
expected impact on car park and 
Park and Ride revenues of the city 

Partially  The Council already monitors the usage of the park and ride and other car 
parks and liaises with the County Council on this. There are currently a 
range of factors affecting the Park and Rides stemming from the pandemic 
due to changes in behaviours. We are working with the County Council to 

142



Budget Review Group Recommendations and Responses 
 
 

centre Zero Emissions Zone encourage use of the park and rides, bus services and active travel as we 
move forward. 
 
We do not consider it possible to attribute changes directly to a single 
measure like the ZEZ. Our pricing strategy across our car parks is aimed at 
encouraging alternatives to driving into the city centre where possible and 
city centre charges have been increased as part of the budget setting 
process, while Park and Ride has been frozen. The County Council has 
introduced significant increases in the charges for on street parking in the 
city centre, with the stated intention of disincentivising usage. 

9 That the Council proposes in its 
discussions with County and the 
Westgate ways to improve the 
convenience of the Park and Rides to 
shoppers, such as arranging delivery 
of city centre purchases to collection 
points. 

Yes The County Council and City Council are engaging with the Westgate and 
other employers, as well as Experience Oxfordshire, to identify options for 
improving the usage of the Park and Rides.  We are happy to raise this 
point. 

10 Restricted recommendation.   

11 Restricted recommendation  

12 That the Council provides a baseline 
figure of the carbon savings 
generated by ensuring that 95% of its 
properties achieve the lowest level of 
‘C’ EPC ratings. 

 
Yes 

It is not yet possible to model the carbon savings given the significant variety 
in property types and different types of measures that might be applied. 
However, the data gathered from the LAD1b retrofit programme already 
under way should enable us to start developing such a model. 

13 That so far as practically possible the 
Council ensures that energy 
inefficient homes are prioritised for 
retrofitting, notwithstanding the 
complexity of the task. 

 
Yes 
 
 

It is typically a requirement of the Government grant-funded schemes that 
those buildings which would qualify must be rated EPC D or below. This has 
informed our approach to retrofitting which is targeting the energy inefficient 
homes first. However, it should be noted that in some cases across the 
Council’s housing stock it would not be realistically viable to achieve an 
rating of EPC C or above, and it may be more appropriate to demolish and 
build new homes. 

14 Restricted recommendation   

15 Restricted recommendation 

16 In view of the greater tenant   

143



Budget Review Group Recommendations and Responses 
 
 

engagement needed arising from the 
Social Housing white paper, that 
Council’s decisions over how best to 
respond to that include the work of 
existing teams, particularly the 
Tenant Involvement Team.  

Yes Officers are considering how best to incorporate the additional resources 
within the budget into the organisation to respond to the new legislative 
requirements. An integrated approach with existing teams will be adopted 

17 That the Council provides an 
estimate of the implications for the 
City Council of both the capital costs 
of a reconfiguration of Floyd’s Row 
away from its current triage service 
back towards something closer to 
the original design and the 
associated operating costs as part of 
the transition to life after Covid. 

 
Yes 

 
Officers are continuing to pursue options for minor alterations to the building 
to allow maximum usage whilst uncertainty continues with regard to the 
application of covid restrictions to communal settings such as that planned 
at Floyds Row but without prejudicing the use of the building as envisaged 
by the original project. The current estimate of costs is £70k for which 
budget provision already exists. 
 

18 That the Council makes it a priority to 
publicise the Noise app, particularly 
in areas with known noise problems. 

Yes The Noise App is already promoted on the landing page for Report a Noise 
Problem and by officers discussing noise problems with members of the 
public, but we will also update our other noise webpages to publicise it 
further.  

19 That a fuller justification of for 
phasing out of the £500,000 leisure 
contingency is provided in the post-
consultation budget proposals. 

N/A The proposal is a gradual reduction of the leisure contingency of £500k 
(increased cost or reduced income) originally forecast in 2022-23 to reduce 
the risk between 2022-23 and 2024-25.  
 
We have seen usage levels increase to c70% pre pandemic levels and 
Fusion believe usage levels will be closer to pre pandemic levels towards 
the end of 2022 justifying the gradual removal of this contingency 
 
While there are a number of uncertainties, these factors do provide useful 
insight to help our financial modelling.  
 

20 Restricted recommendation 
    

21 That the Council reverses its 
proposals to make £25k cuts to 

Yes The administration’s budget proposes reversing the £25,000 saving  

144



Budget Review Group Recommendations and Responses 
 
 

advice centre base budgets. 

22 That the Council provides clarity over 
the actual cash cost of Green Flag 
accreditation, that it reviews the cost-
benefit of making this efficiency 
against this figure, and that it 
investigates (and includes in its 
deliberations if appropriate) the 
possibility of accessing CIL monies 
to cover these costs. 

N/A The CIL money received to date by the council has been fully allocated 
through the budget setting process (this excludes that received in Parish 
and Neighbourhood Plan areas as this is not allocated by the City Council). 
The cost of re-instating the accreditation is estimated at around £18k per 
annum. CIL money is for the provision and improvement of a wide range of 
infrastructure in the city to support development. The accreditation does not 
fulfil that criteria.  

 

145



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

147

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Work Plan
	Work Plan - Proposed

	6 Annual Update of the Council Business Plan
	Appendix 1: Oxford City Council's Draft Corporate Business Plan Priorities 2022/23
	Appendix 2: Oxford City Council Corporate Business Plan 2021/22 Update
	Appendix 3: Oxford City Council Corporate Strategy 2020-24

	7 Oxfordshire Recovery and Renewal Framework
	Appendix 1: Oxfordshire's Recovery and Renewal Framework

	8 Reports for Approval
	Draft Report to Cabinet: Oxfordshire Plan 2050

	9 Report back on recommendations and from Scrutiny Panel meetings
	12 Budget Review Group Report - Exempt Recommendations and Responses

